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Tuesday, February 19, 2019
--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, everyone.  I think we will get started.  This is the technical conference for the Toronto Hydro rates application, EB-2018-0165.  You will see we have a full room today, and we have a very busy schedule.  We have received time estimates from all of the parties, and we are over-subscribed for the amount of time we actually have.  I expect a lot of that may fall off as you hear other people's questions, but I do ask you to do your very best to be concise, avoid repetition, and listen to the questions of others so we can avoid duplication.

Why don't we get right into things.  I will go to appearances, and then I will turn it over to Mr. Keizer to introduce his panel and any brief introductory remarks, and then I think we're going to start with the questions from Board staff, and then we'll work our way through the schedule that we have put together.

My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board staff.  With me today is Mr. Lawrie Gluck to my left.  I think we will also be joined by Keith Ritchie and Mark Rozic on some other days, so they're not in the room at the moment.

Mr. Keizer.
Appearances:


MR. KEIZER:  Charles Keizer, counsel on behalf of Toronto Hydro.  With me is Ms. Daliana Coban, also counsel for Toronto Hydro, and also joining us to deal with panel number 3 and I believe 4 and 5 will be Mr. Arlen Sternberg as well, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  My name is Tom Brett.  I represent the Building Owners and Managers Association.  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. GARNER:  Mark Garner, consultant with VECC, and joining me is Chandler Buchanan, who is with PIAC.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, consultant to the Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. GRICE:  Shelley Grice, consultant to the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

MR. QUINN:  Dwayne Quinn, on behalf of the Greater Toronto Apartment Association.

MR. HANN:  Norman Hann representing ratepayers.

MR. LENARTOWICZ:  Jack Lenartowicz, also of Toronto Hydro.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning.  Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel with the Power Workers' Union.

DR. HIGGIN:  Roger Higgin, consultant with Energy Probe.

MR. LADANYI:  Tom Ladanyi, consultant with Energy Probe.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Jonathan McGillivray, counsel for the Distributed Resource Coalition.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We had -- I already spoke with some people from Toronto Hydro on the phone.  Has anyone else joined us on the phone?  Okay.  Thank you.

Mr. Keizer.

MR. KEIZER:  Let me first by -- start by introducing the panel --


MS. GIRVAN:  Can't hear you.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess your mic is not on.

MR. KEIZER:  My light is on.  I don't know about the other mic.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Maybe just speak a little more into it.

MR. KEIZER:  Let me first start by introducing the panel, and then I just have a couple of preliminary comments just as well.

So maybe if I can start with the panellist furthest away, if you could just introduce your name and position at Toronto Hydro, please.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Githu Mundenchira.  I am the supervisor of capital projects at Toronto Hydro that is part of the finance team.  As part of my duties I am involved in the capital planning process as well as some of the management reporting.

MS. CIPOLLA:  Good morning, my name is Aida Cipolla.  I am the executive vice-president and chief financial officer at Toronto Hydro.  I am responsible for the finance division.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Elias Lyberogiannis.  I am the general manager of engineering at Toronto Hydro.  My responsibilities include system planning, standards, program management, and that includes the development of the capital and maintenance plans that are before the Board.

MS. NARISETTY:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Sushma Narisetty.  I am the manager of engineering services at Toronto Hydro.

MR. TAKI:  Good morning, my name is Hani Taki.  I am the director of standards and technical studies within the engineering division.

MR. TRGACHEF:  Good morning, my name is Jim Trgachef, general manager of construction at Toronto Hydro.
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MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  Before we just give the -- you get into your questions, folks, I mean, one of the things we just wanted to raise at the outset was that, as you know, there is an update that is expected with respect to Toronto Hydro's evidence, and I know that some of your questions may be today concerning yourselves with respect to the 2018 numbers.  So I just wanted to advise you on the timing of the update.

The expectation is that Toronto Hydro will update its evidence, as it was already contemplated in procedural orders.  The update will be on April 30, 2019, will be the date of the update.  That is the expected date of the update.

So that scope of update will include the various financial numbers.  It will also encompass some of the 2018 numbers that are at issue in this proceeding as well, in terms of actuals -- and performance measures, right?

MR. MILLAR:  Is that all, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  That's it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very --


MS. GIRVAN:  I have a question, sorry.  From Board staff, is there any sense of what process would follow that update?

MR. MILLAR:  I don't think we have announced anything yet.  We can chat with you offline, Julie, and we will get your views as well, but I don't think the Board said anything about it yet, unless I am mistaken.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just have a question.  Is the update going to encompass responses to IRs that have already been posed with respect to questions that either directly or as part of a broader question asks for 2018 information?  Because I know some of the responses just say they're not available, and I don't know if the update will include that.

MR. KEIZER:  I think that is something we're going to have to kind of take under advisement and deal with on a case-by-case basis.  At least right now -- the current scope is on all of the financial numbers, so to the extent the financial numbers are part of those interrogatory responses, that would be incorporated within the context of the 2018 update.

I am not sure if I can say that all interrogatories will be -- I am not sure that all of those numbers necessarily would still be available or not available at that time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So should we ask today or in the next few days each of those individual questions?  I am just trying to avoid having to ask undertakings for every single one.

MR. KEIZER:  No, I understand.  Let's see how it goes, and then we may have further discussion at the break to be able to give you further clarity.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Mr. Gluck, would you like to begin with your questions.
Examination by Mr. Gluck:


MR. GLUCK:  I am going to start with 2A-Staff-52, Appendix A.  And I have provided you an Excel spreadsheet that basically copies your Appendix A and then adds a few more columns to it.  I provided you guys a paper copy over there, and I was hoping that we could mark it as an exhibit today.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  That will be KTC1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. KTC1.1:  EXCEL SPREADSHEET PROVIDED BY MR. GLUCK.

MR. GLUCK:  Do you have that in front of you?  Okay.

So my question for you is, can you confirm that the amounts set out in the spreadsheet that I provided use the information provided in Appendix A to 2A-Staff-52 to correctly calculate Toronto Hydro's rate base on an average of monthly averages basis?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.  The numbers are correct.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  Does Toronto Hydro believe that this is a more accurate estimate of rate base in a given year as it relies on the best available forecast of both in-service additions and depreciation?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  I would like to point to our response -- in my response here.  So for the same interrogatory, 2A-Staff-52, we have described why we have used the approach we have used, and as such we believe the proposed approach is not the most appropriate.

MR. GLUCK:  Are you referring to -- which part of the IR response are you referring to?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  2A-Staff-52A, sub-question A.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  So you are relying on the 2006 Electricity Rate Handbook as why this approach that you are using is more appropriate than the monthly average approach?

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, just for the record can either one of you identify the distinction between the two approaches just so we can...

MR. GLUCK:  Sure.  Maybe you could describe your approach, and then I will describe the staff approach.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Sure, I can do that.  So the approach we have used is in addition to the 2006 filing requirements, also in the 2017 filing requirements for 2017 rate applications.  I don't have the exact reference in front of me.  The same methodology was described.

So to explain it, it would be taking the opening rate base for the year, plus the closing rate base and divided by two, to calculate the rate base that would be used in the revenue requirement calculation.

MR. GARNER:  We are talking the distinction here is just about using monthly averages versus year-end opening and closing averages?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  So it is based on the 2006 handbook and also the 2017 handbook.  And you are aware that the 2017 handbook does describe the option of using a monthly average approach?

Like, we could open it up or you can -- maybe it is helpful to open it up.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  I don't have it in front of me, so I am not familiar.

MR. GLUCK:  Maybe I could read it.
"If an applicant uses an alternative method such as calculating the average in-service fixed assets based on the average of monthly or quarterly values, it must document the methodology used."


So it sort of speaks to the ability that there is an alternative that utilities could use, if appropriate.

MR. KEIZER:  Is there a question, Mr. Gluck --


MR. GLUCK:  No.

MR. KEIZER:  -- other than that is what the handbook says?

MR. GLUCK:  That is what the handbook says.  I am just confirming that Toronto Hydro is aware that that is part of the handbook as well.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know if we want to argue about what the wording of the handbook is, although it does seem to imply if the applicant chooses to do so, which the applicant in this case has not chosen to do so.

MR. GLUCK:  That's fair.  Can I ask a question about why the in-service additions are so weighted towards the end of the year?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  For this question, if I can point you to our response to -- interrogatory response 2A-SEC-31, SEC 31?

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  So if you go to page 2 of the response, and if you look at the lines at line 3 and line 7 -- especially in line 7, we describe the methodology that we use for forecasting in-service additions.  And at lines 10, 11 and 12 specifically, it mentions that we look at historical rates of in-service additions to come up with the best estimate of how it has been in the prior years, and that is the methodology we use for forecasting.

MR. GLUCK:  So if we were to go back in time, it would look for, you know, 2010 -- whatever year, 2013 to 2018, it would look like the majority of your asset in-service date is November and December, going back in time.

So going forward you're forecasting on the same basis as what has actually happened in the past.  Is that correct?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  And why would that be the case, that your assets on an actual basis historically go into service largely in November and December in a given year?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TRGACHEF:  So typically, when you review our construction cycle throughout the year, typically our construction does start winter-spring and carries out towards the end of the year.

It is heavily weighted to summer/fall seasons and with that, the completions typically take place late fall or November, early winter.

So we do have seasonality that we deal with, and that's when our in-service additions and projects are completed and attained.  That's why you are seeing the rear end build up near the end of the year.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay, thank you.  So part G of 2A-Staff-52; I was hoping that you could take an undertaking to provide me with the depreciation expense for each year that's associated with the half-year rule calculation that you provided in response to that question.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, just so we can understand the undertaking you are asking for.  You are asking to do what in relation to G?

MR. GLUCK:  So in relation to G, in part G, what Toronto Hydro provided is the rate base calculation that falls out from using the half-year rule on the depreciation expense.  And what I would like to see is the actual depreciation expense itself that is underpinning that table.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, Mr. Gluck, if you don't mind, if I can ask a question and just help me to understand something you responded to.

As I understand what Board staff is asking you about is there is a distinction to be made in the outcome of doing it by opening and closing balance versus monthly averages, right?

So my first question is about the materiality of that difference.  But the second question was, if your response was that you put into service your assets toward the end of the year because you start them at the beginning of the year.  What I am confused about that answer is, why would then the monthly averages not support that same concept?  Why wouldn't that be demonstrative in the monthly averages?  Why wouldn't they end up coming to the same place?  Do you know what I mean?

So there wouldn't be a distinction to be drawn between the two ways of calculating the rate base because the monthly averages would reflect the same concept that you just said, that all of the assets come into play at the end of the month or end of the year.

So I am a little lost on that.

MR. GLUCK:  I think that is more a question for me.  Maybe we can talk about it after?  There is a difference in the rate base number between the monthly average approach and the approach that they've used.

MR. GARNER:  Yes, I understand that.  But what I am asking the Toronto Hydro is why would that difference occur if the response to the question, why do most of your assets go into service at the end of the year, and you said because they start at the beginning of the year.  I think that is what I heard, correct?  Basically, that is the --


MR. KEIZER:  I think the answer, Mark -- I mean Mr. Garner, we haven't -- it is not our proposal with respect to the monthly averages.

So I don't believe that that analysis has been done or contemplated since its proposal by Board staff.

MR. GARNER:  My question is really just a technical issue of -- it would seem to me, if that was true, the answer was correct, then the monthly averages would also correctly demonstrate the same thing.  There would be more rate base in the monthly averages going in at the end of the month also, right?

You would have a higher end of that in your calculation?  Isn't that the way it would work?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I can ask the witnesses to address it, but I guess my concern is it is not our proposal.  So I am not sure that we should be speculating as to how it should or shouldn't be working.

MR. GARNER:  That's fine.  I will speak to Board staff about it, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  We have an undertaking request.  Does the panel understand the undertaking request?

MR. KEIZER:  I think we got a little bit off track in terms of what the --


MR. MILLAR:  Sure.

MR. KEIZER:  -- undertaking request was.  Is it something we are able to prepare?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  We can on a best-efforts basis.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, say again?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  On a best-efforts basis it will --


MR. MILLAR:  And just -- it got lost a bit in the shuffle.  Could you describe what you are undertaking to do, just so it is clear for the record?  What is your undertaking to try to do?

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, in other words, we want to make sure that the wording is correct.  Maybe we should ask --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. KEIZER:  -- Mr. Gluck --


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Gluck --


MR. KEIZER:  -- to express the undertaking so we can make sure --


MR. GLUCK:  The undertaking is to provide the depreciation expense associated with the rate base calculation provided in response to part G of 2A-Staff-52.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, I understand.

MR. MILLAR:  That's JTC1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.1:  TO PROVIDE THE DEPRECIATION EXPENSE ASSOCIATED WITH THE RATE BASE CALCULATION PROVIDED IN RESPONSE TO PART G OF 2A-STAFF-52.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.

I am going to move to the response to 2B-Staff-75.  My first question is with respect to Appendix A of 2B-Staff-75.

Are the monitors working?  Do people have this up on their monitors or no?  Oh, you do.  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you not?

MR. GLUCK:  I do not.

MR. MILLAR:  Is it on the other one?

MR. GLUCK:  No.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, Mr. Gluck, we have that.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  My question is, is the total expenditure line in that table -- does that reflect all capital expenditures made by Toronto Hydro, including capital contributions paid to Hydro One, net of capital contributions made by customers to Toronto Hydro?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  So the line that says "total expenditure" --


MR. GLUCK:  Yeah.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  -- that is net of capital contributions received from customers and includes any capital contributions paid to Hydro One.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  For presentment purposes, as this table is often used as a summary in submissions and in the Board's decision they often refer to this, this table which is basically a play on page 2AB, we're hoping that you could restate the table where the total line -- the total expenditure line reflects all capital expenditures made by the utility, including the capital contributions made to Hydro One.  So I will stop there.  Don't net out the customer contributions to you.

And then in the capital contribution line, the line under, include all of the capital contributions to the utility from its customers.  And then in the net line subtract the total by the capital contributions received.  Is that something you could do?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JTC1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.2:  TO RESTATE THE TABLE WHERE THE TOTAL EXPENDITURE LINE REFLECTS ALL CAPITAL EXPENDITURES MADE BY THE UTILITY, INCLUDING THE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS MADE TO HYDRO ONE; FOR THE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION LINE, TO INCLUDE ALL OF THE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE UTILITY FROM ITS CUSTOMERS; FOR THE NET LINE, TO SUBTRACT THE TOTAL BY THE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVED. TO REFILE APPENDIX 2AB IN THE SAME MANNER AS APPENDIX A TO 2B-STAFF-75.

MR. GLUCK:  In the same undertaking can you refile Appendix 2AB in the same manner?  The Chapter 2 appendices, Appendix 2AB, is what I am referring to.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Gluck, where is it -- which are you referring to?

MR. GLUCK:  As part of the Chapter 2 appendices, they file something -- it is called Appendix 2AB, which is their -- it is a capex summary table, and it looks very much like this.  It is basically not including the CIR filing minus 10 percent columns there.

When you are doing this undertaking I was hoping you could update both documents to just bring the presentment in line where net capex is the difference between capex out by the utility and capital contributions received from your customers.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  I just want to reclarify to make sure we're doing the right thing here.  So from all of the lines above the total expenditure line, we will exclude any capital contributions received by Toronto Hydro, but it will include capital contributions paid to Hydro One.

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  And the capital contributions line that is existing right now, we will recast that to show capital contributions received instead?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Then show a subtotal saying this is net of -- this capex net of capital contributions and includes Hydro One contributions paid.

MR. GLUCK:  Right.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Okay.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  So you will do both Appendix 2AB and the Appendix A to Staff 75?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  Okay.

I would like to go to Appendix B of the same response, so to Staff 75.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Gluck, I'm just trying to be helpful.  Did the last set of questions get an undertaking number?

MR. MILLAR:  It did.

MR. QUINN:  Oh, okay, thank you.

MR. GLUCK:  So in respect to Appendix B, I am hoping that you can provide a summary table that is similar to this, but instead of showing the approved amount which is described as CIR filing minus 10 percent, if you could show the planned in-service additions instead of the approved in-service additions.  And also in the same table, provide the forecast period 2020 to 2024 of your in-service additions.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, planned in-service additions?

MR. GLUCK:  So, yes.  Your planned 2015 to 2019 in-service additions, what you applied for.  And then the Board cut it by 10 percent.  So I would like those columns switched, the planned shown instead of the approved amount shown.

MR. KEIZER:  The original filing?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Gluck, do you have additional questions with respect to this table?

MR. GLUCK:  It's a follow-up on this table, yes.  You want me to ask it?  It's not -- those are all -- that would be the entire undertaking I am asking for, is to change CIR filing minus 10 percent to the applied-for amounts from the 2015 case and then adding to the table the 2020 to 2024 proposed in-service additions.

MR. KEIZER:  In Appendix B?

MR. GLUCK:  For Appendix B, yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Well --


MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, we can provide this.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, that's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  JTC1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.3:  TO PROVIDE A SUMMARY TABLE SHOWING THE PLAN IN-SERVICE ADDITIONS 2015-2019 COMPARED TO ACTUALS AND TO PROVIDE THE FORECAST IN-SERVICE ADDTIONS FOR 2020-2024.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  I am not sure if this question is for this panel, and you can tell me if I should save it, but I did want to go to Appendix A to the response of 1B-Staff-22, which shows your -- it is your fixed asset continuity schedules for 2021 to 2024 were provided in that response.

Should I be talking to you about that?  Or panel 3?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  You can talk to us.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  So I would like to go to the 2024 fixed asset continuity schedule.  And my first question -- and this would be true for all of the schedules -- would the total PP&E line of $586,179,000, would that be your forecast in-service addition amount for 2024?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  And with respect to 2024, when I added up all of your in-service additions on a gross basis before removing the capital contributions, there are in-service additions in 2024 of $813 million.  Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Subject to check.

MR. GLUCK:  In that year there is, in the contributions line, $224.6 million of contributions to Toronto Hydro.  Is that correct?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  The $224 million is capital contributions received.

MR. GLUCK:  Right.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  The line right below that is Hydro One capital contributions paid.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  So my question for you is, if we looked at all of the other years, 2020 all the way to 2023, you have -- I don't have an exact number, but you have -- you have significantly less capital in-service additions and significantly lower capital contributions received by Toronto Hydro in every other year.

You can just look at the capital contributions line.  For example, if you go back a page, you will see in 2023 your contributions received are 45 million.  The year before that, they're 46 million.  The year before that, they're 52 million.  And really, the in-service amounts for most of those years don't vary that widely.

So really what is changing is the amount of capital contributions that are going to go -- capital contributions received by Toronto Hydro that are going to go into service in 2024.  That is the main difference between the total in-service addition amount between that year and the previous years.

Is there a reason why you are expecting four to five times more capital contributions going into service in 2024 relative to the previous years?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  I would like to point you to an IR we have responded to.  It is 2A-AMPCO-15.

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  On page 3, the bottom of page 3, we have the response to part D under table 2 on page 4.  It shows the forecasted capital expenditures by program for programs such as customer connection, generation connection, et cetera.

This is capex and the in-service additions you see are in-service additions related to programs such as these.

MR. GLUCK:  So I see that you have, you know, relatively -- let's say relatively steady capital contributions forecast to be received over the 2020-2024 period.  It seems to range from 88 million to 108 million.  Right?

When I look at your in-service additions in fixed asset continuity schedules that we just looked at, the in-service additions range from 50 -- let's say $50 million to $225 million.  There is a clear -- it is clearly -- to me, it is clear the in-service additions are more lumpy than the capital contributions that -- the capital contributions on a capex basis that you are forecasting.

So my question really is: why does a massive amount of your capital contributions received go into service in the last year of this proposed CIR term?

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe, Mr. Gluck, we can take this away and come back to you after the break.

MR. GLUCK:  That's great.  Thank you.  Okay.  We talked about this briefly earlier, but I would like to go to 2A-SEC-31, still on the topic of in-service additions.

So you took me to bullet 2 on page 2 of that response.  My understanding of the manner in which Toronto Hydro calculates in-service additions is that you look at, on a global basis, the historical conversion of capex to in-service.

And then you allocate that conversion rate by asset class on the basis of historical rate of in-service additions for each individual class.

Is that essentially how you translate capex into in-service additions?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  No.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  The description -- so if you see in line 7, page 2 of 2A-SEC-31, they said for capex that is incurred in the DSP categories, such as system access renewal service, we look at the historical profile of how much ISAs was related to each different asset class related to those categories and then forecast ISAs based on that.

So I guess it is a starting point I just wanted to clarify.

MR. GLUCK:  Sorry, what is the starting point?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  So in the DSP the category system access renewal in-service, excluding as I have noted there large projects such as Copeland HONI, that is a starting point from which we look at historical assumptions of what asset classes were generated by similar projects in the past and that assumption is used to forecast ISAs.

MR. GLUCK:  So is the difference between what we each said that for large discrete capital projects you do it differently?  Is that what you are pointing out to me?  That when you are looking at Copeland, for example, you actually know Copeland is going into service in November 2023, so you assume that in your in-service addition forecast?  Is that the distinction between what we said?  Or am I...

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  I believe it might be -- the way I understood it is that you may have said that we started by looking at each asset class and looking at what ISAs were resulting from each asset class.

MR. GLUCK:  So you are looking at -- let me try this.  You are looking at total capex historically and then you take that and you look at how much of that went into service in a year.  So let's say the number was 70 percent.  Now you take that 70 percent conversion factor and you apply it going forward to your forecast capex and you take -- and that number becomes the in-service addition that you are forecasting; is that right?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  And then I think the next step is that on a global basis you have that 70 percent times whatever as the conversion factor.  And then you actually have to turn that into assets so you could figure out the depreciation that falls from it.  So you figure out, you know, 70 percent of our capex went into service, and then you look at which asset classes would that have come from based on our historical conversion of in-service additions?  I think it is like a two-step process.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  That's fair.  It is not actually 70 percent you were using as an example.  So we do the same, yes, for capex, and then for CWIP as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I clarify?  The conversion level, is that a global basis, or is that an asset level basis?

So you know you may have 70 percent for poles and 65 percent for switches and, you know -- or is it 70 percent for all assets?  I thought it was on an asset-by-asset basis you had different conversion factors?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.  There is two steps to the approach.  One is to determine the total amount of in-service.  Second step would be to determine which asset classes, like poles, for example, or transformers, for example that that amount would go.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  See, now, that confuses, because I don't understand how you -- I had understood that you have an asset-by-asset basis of poles 70 percent, switches 65 percent, and then you would apply that to, if I am spending X amount on poles on a capex basis, that gets me to the in-service addition of that year, and then if I am spending a certain amount of money on switches that gets me to the -- and from that you build up your global basis of what the in-service additions are.  I don't understand how you can be doing it both directions.

MR. GARNER:  I am confused also.  Isn't it possible to actually demonstrate the calculation, to actually provide us with the calculation and show us the average?  Because my follow-up question to what Mr. Gluck would have been asking and Mr. Rubenstein is, is do you ever go back and actually validate the concept by looking in the past and saying, does this concept actually work if we went backwards and looked at what actually happened?  So you validate your actual estimation by taking a backward glance at it?

But  my first question would be, isn't it possible to simply demonstrate to us the calculation?  Just by giving us the detail of all the calculation and how it is done?  Is that a possibility before I ask for an undertaking?

MR. KEIZER:  Do you mean some kind of illustrative example?

MR. GARNER:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Here's the steps and here --


MR. GARNER:  Yes, Mr. Keizer, so that would sort of help everybody understand the different aspects, like what the average is, what years you used for that average, et cetera, and then we could all sort of dissect it.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  We can provide an illustrative example.

MR. GARNER:  That would be helpful to me.

MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we mark that then.  JTC1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.4:  TO PROVIDE AN ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLE OF HOW CAPITAL EXPENDITURES ARE TRANSLATED INTO IN-SERVICE ADDITIONS.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I will just go back to my question --


MR. KEIZER:  Is there any qualifications or anything you have to add with respect to the undertaking or are you good with it?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  No.  I am fine with it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I know you will have an illustrative, but just for the purposes of the discussion today I would just go back to my question.

Is it on an asset basis?  Or is it on a global basis?  And then obviously you would have to break it down by asset for depreciation purposes, but what is the first step?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  I guess I should clarify.  The two-step approach is, one is to determine how much will be in-service.  The second is, of that how much is in-service, what is in-service?  If that makes sense.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there's a global -- let me give you an example.  There's some -- I don't have it in front of me, but there is a number of IRs where we ask you to take the capex number on a program basis and give it to us in-service additions, and the response was -- points to this IR, and essentially you're saying you can't do it that way.

But if you essentially are -- but that's not actually correct then.  I mean, it maybe works, but you could do it that way, right?  Because you would have to make estimates what the global amount is, and then you are breaking it down by assets and how many assets would be in each program, correct?

And I will give you an example.  If ultimately the Board in its decision says, after hearing your case, area conversion program, that specific renewal program, reduce it by 10 percent, how would you go about actually reducing it for the purpose of flowing it through the in-service additions, and for rates?  You need to make -- you would have to figure that out.  Correct?

MR. KEIZER:  There has been a couple of different questions, so --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Fair enough.

MR. KEIZER:  -- let's deal with the one question then before we go to the next question.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, we will take it one at a time.  If I understood correctly, the first question was, you were asking us to confirm that we're doing in-service addition by program?  Which is not the case.  We don't forecast in-service additions by program.  It is done -- so as described in 2A-SEC-31 --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand you don't do it by program.  That part I got.

I guess my next question then would be -- let's use the underground conversion question, the example I used for area conversions.  If the Board would reduce it by 10 percent, the Board said in its decision we want you to reduce your capital expenditure -- your forecast by 10 percent, how would you flow that through to the in-service additions for the purposes of ratemaking, if you don't do it on a program basis?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Mr. Rubenstein, if I could just get clarification on that point.  Are you asking if there was a particular cut to one program how would we manage that?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Not from an operational point of view. If the Board said you have -- you are forecasting X amount per year in capital expenditures for -- and I am just picking at random and I picked the underground conversion -- or the area conversion program, the Board said it is 10 percent too high.  We want to reduce it by 10 percent.  Because it is on a cap-ex basis but rates are set on an in-service basis, you would have to make the conversion, I guess.

How would you do that, if you don't do in-service additions calculations on a program basis?

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe it is something -- I don't really want the witnesses -- if they can answer it, fine.  But if they have to do it on a fly and this is something that requires a bit more thinking, then it may be something we want to consider within the context of an undertaking, since that is not what we currently -- having not done the forecast on a program basis.  So we can take it away and come back with something.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  I will come back to it in my questions, because I have some broader questions about this, but you can think about it.

MR. GARNER:  Well, can I make this suggestion.  Could you add to the undertaking previously you had taken, just to demonstrate if the Board were to make an adjustment to a capital program in your capex, how you would then -- using the same formula you are going to show us the illustrative formula -- how you would then adapt that to make that change so that we understand the mechanic of how you would then say, okay, we have to make an adjustment.  Here's how we would do that adjustment based on the Board.

If that is not too difficult, Mr. Keizer, I don't know if it would be hard.

MR. KEIZER:  Basically, what we would do is have a look at it.  To the extent we can answer that, we will.  To the extent we won't, we'll explain why we can't and make any adjustments necessary.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's continue.

MR. GLUCK:  I will continue on this path.  From staff's perspective, we really were looking for Toronto Hydro to take an undertaking to file its in-service additions by capital program.  That is where this all was leading.  That is what staff is looking for.

You have answered in a number of places that you cannot -- you cannot do that.  But it is something that we think is important, because the Board needs to know what in-service additions they're approving on a capital program basis.  And it also provides the Board with the ability to review at the next rate case what in-service additions, by program, were actually put -- what capital was actually put in-service historically.

MS. CIPOLLA:  If I may respond to that question?  In Consideration, and specifically may I reference you to 2B-Staff-75, Appendix B.

MR. BRETT:  That is 4A?

MS. CIPOLLA:  2B-Staff-75.

MR. GLUCK:  I have it.

MS. CIPOLLA:  If we pull that up?  When we receive a decision, we calculate it based on the capital revenue requirement as implied through rates.  And that is done on a five-year envelope of our capital program.

And so the in-service additions are calculated over, as we have described, on the basis.  So we receive the capital envelope, and we effectively execute the plan.  But the plan changes year over year.  It allows us the flexibility as our program modifies through -- may it be through various factors, operational factors.

The plan within itself and the execution of it is able to be met over the 5-year period.  And so in this illustrative example, what we would like to do is just make a correction to the variance because it will speak to the table being at a variance over the 5-year plan at 3.2 percent.

So that speaks to our execution of the plan.  And so in my preparation of this exhibit, we would just like to make a clarification point.  On the far right hand column, the variance, the percentage category there, needs to be corrected to 3.2 percent.  All numbers in here are correct, but the percentage needs to be corrected.

So what this illustrative example illustrates is that to the plan versus the actuals, that we were able to execute the plan as derived.

MR. KEIZER:  I believe you were clarifying the original, the previous undertaking with respect to this particular table.

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, my apologies.

MR. KEIZER:  I think, Mr. Gluck, you're asking the question about wanting the in-service additions being done by program.

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  As I recall, there was a response in an undertaking -- sorry, interrogatory which indicated that that was not something that Toronto Hydro was able to do.  And so it continues to maintain that position with respect to its interrogatory response.

MR. BRETT:  I think --


MR. MILLAR:  Your mic, Tom.

MR. BRETT:  The response actually went on to say that they could not do it in the time available to respond to interrogatories.

And I would suggest that you now have more time.  You have several weeks now, and I think, therefore, the time objection should not apply.

Again, you said you couldn't do it because you only had a couple of weeks to respond to all of these IRs, and to do what you wanted to do would take more than the time you had available.

And I would add, I don't want to -- we're not going to argue the case here, but I would just underline the importance of what Mr. Gluck is asking for, because those programs are your DSP.  They emanate directly from your DSP.

The Board wants to track the progress of the DSP and it should not be -- it is very important to be able to look to those various components to the DSP and see how they are progressing, and progressing into rate base.

And I guess the second related point is the actual rates that you are striking are based on the in-service additions and how they accrue over time.

But the main point, I think, is that that is the -- you set the DSP up, and you set your capital budget up on a program basis.  And so that is what needs to be tracked, among other things, I think.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Brett, that may be what your submission ultimately is before the Board and we have answered the IR.  I see the IR that you are making reference to in terms of times available.  I think the most we can say at this point is we will take it under consideration as to whether we can be responsive to the undertaking or not.

MR. BRETT:  Okay, thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  I just had a question with respect to this exhibit.

Can you just explain to me why, in 2018, the in-service additions are so significantly higher?  Is that just you pushed things out of the overall plan since some in-service additions department go in-service earlier, they went into service later?  Is that the reason for that variance?

It's the 2018.  It is the 397 versus the 608.

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, that's correct.  It is a timing difference.

MS. GIRVAN:  So it is your perspective that you were only 3 percent out of your plan, but in certain years there is significant variances.

MS. CIPOLLA:  That's correct.  The 5-year capital plan approved is an envelope of the dollar -- of the capital program.  So there are going to be operational considerations that happen through the execution of the plan.

And so there are projects that, through operational considerations, were put in-service in 2018 versus a prior year.

MS. GIRVAN:  They were supposed to go into a prior year?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Based on the original estimations.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. GLUCK:  So I just want to confirm for the record Toronto Hydro is refusing to provide in-service additions by capital program for the forecast period 2020-2024.  We asked our question with respect to 2A-SEC-31.

MR. KEIZER:  I think what I said is we would take it under consideration.  And to the extent we are able to do that, we would do it.  If we can't do it, we won't.

MR. MILLAR:  So will you advise us of that?  We will have to know.  We will have to consider whether we want to bring a motion or not, but at some point we need to know whether you will answer or not.

MR. KEIZER:  I will not surprise you.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you want me to mark it as an undertaking for you to tell us, or will you undertake -- without me marking it down -- to tell us by the end of the week?

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  Which one?

MR. KEIZER:  By the end of the week.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

MR. GLUCK:  Moving to 2B-Staff-75, appendix E now, this is with respect to your historical major capital projects.  So first I just want to confirm this table includes every major capital project that had capital expenditures in excess of $10 million during the 2015-2019 period.  Is that correct?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  With respect to the first two projects from left to right, the Hydro One 1 and 2, those were projects undertaken by Hydro One, and the original estimates related to those projects were estimates provided by Hydro One.  Is that correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, Mr. Gluck.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  Moving to 2B-Staff-95, part C.  This is with respect to the Copeland Phase 1 project.  And my first question, I am really just trying to understand the total budget for the project.

Is it correct to say that there was a budget of $143 million for this project during the period prior to 2015, and then 51 million in the 2015 to 2019 period, for a total budget of $195 million?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Gluck, may I ask you just to repeat that question?

MR. GLUCK:  Sure.  I am just trying to understand the budget for the project and when the spending was expected to occur.  So my understanding from this response is that there was a budget of $143 million for the project that would have been filed in the -- I think you gave me an EB number -- EB-2012-0064.

So there was an expectation that in that proceeding you advised the Board that $143 million would be spent prior to 2015.  And then in the 2015 proceeding you advised the Board that $51 million would be spent in the 2015 to 2019 period, for a total budget of $195 million.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  Going to table 1, which is on page 4 of the same response, it seems that the capital contribution to Hydro One was -- had a variance of 20.5 million between approved and the current forecast.  And when you remove the Hydro One aspect of the project budget, the cost overrun on Toronto Hydro's part of the project is $29.5 million on a $134.6 million project.  This is eliminating the Hydro One portion of the project.

Can you explain what happened?  Was there a shift of work between Toronto Hydro and Hydro One?  Or was it something else?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Gluck, the particular table you are referring to is 2B-Staff-95, table 1, I believe.

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So the response to your question is, yes, there was a reduction capital contribution to Hydro One, and there were, as you can see from the table, there were increases in other elements of the particular project.

MR. GLUCK:  Right.  Let me ask you this.  Basically what I am doing is I'm netting out the capital contribution portion of this project, because that portion is done by another utility.  So when I take out the 60.4 from the OEB approved amount, we get down to a $134.6 million project on a forecast basis.  Right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  And then I pull out the 39.9 million capital contribution that was actually paid on an actual basis, and I take that out from the 204.  So now I am comparing the work that Toronto Hydro did on this project.  And when you run the numbers, Toronto Hydro spent $29.5 million more on its aspect of the project, which is relative to a 134.6 million total amount, which is a 22 percent increase relative to the forecast.

So my question is, can you explain exactly what happened?  What I am trying to ask you, actually, is:  Did Toronto Hydro do more work than it expected because Hydro One did less work?  Is that the reason for the variance?  Or is it cost overruns on Toronto Hydro's side of the project?

MR. TRGACHEF:  So the main change in the capital contribution resulted from design change that was developed with Hydro One that Toronto Hydro initiated, where we reduced the amount of high-voltage breakers from initial design of ten to six.

So it was reconfigured to a lower number.  However, resulting from those design changes, it did impact other areas of the project where we -- Toronto Hydro did take on more work.

Where I can point you to is, the area of the tunnel work redesign did impact Toronto Hydro and doing additional work or change in scope.

MR. GLUCK:  So just to repeat back, it was a change in scope to Toronto Hydro's side of the project, because Hydro One installed less -- did you say transformers?

MR. TRGACHEF:  High-voltage switch gear.

MR. GLUCK:  High-voltage switch gear.  Okay.

Let me take you to Part B of the same response.  You reference in that response contractor performance.  And you speak to "the general contractors' U.K. parent company entered into compulsory liquidation on January 15, 2018", so you talk about that in that response

My question for you is, were you aware that the contractor was having issues earlier in the process?  Or did Toronto Hydro have to react after the fact to that liquidation?

MR. TRGACHEF:  If I can direct you to 2B-SEC-68, in response to C we indicate Toronto Hydro's internal enterprise risk management tools that we used to evaluate risk on a project such as Copeland.  So this is a risk management model that we use to manage risks throughout the project.

If you turn to the Project Risk Map, the Carillion schedule outlined in A1 and rebased in A2 is a risk we manage throughout the project.

This is -- this is an issue that was reviewed on a monthly basis by the risk committee, and assessed at that point.

MR. GARNER:  Mr. Gluck, do you mind if I just ask the question this way:   Do you have an estimate of the costs, incremental costs that were incurred by Toronto Hydro due to the failure of the contractor?

MR. TRGACHEF:  For that, I will direct you back to 2B Staff 95, and again to table 1.  The actual costing that Toronto Hydro occurred is broken down into that table.  That table does include contractor performance issues that were dealt with.

MR. GARNER:  I don't think that answers my question, though.  My question was very specific.

Do you have an estimate, or do you have a cost that you calculate that was incurred due to the failure of the contractor?  Did you, yourself, when that contractor failed, basically recast what you needed to do and then understood the cost of the failure of that contractor on the project?

MR. KEIZER:  We have to be cautious in terms of the response, because there is potentially ongoing litigation with respect to this.

So to the extent that -- if we can provide a response, it may be that we have to do it confidentially.  So it may be --


MR. GARNER:  Certainly, Mr. Keizer, I can understand that.  But that may actually help the point.  If there is litigation, there's damages that have been established.  So if those damages have been established by Toronto as a claim, then perhaps that is all we need is the claim Toronto Hydro is making as damages against the contractor.

Now, if that is in litigation.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think the original question was what the incremental costs were associated with the failure of the contractor.  So --


MR. GARNER:  I think those two would be close enough together, at least in my mind, to be immaterial to be different.

I would imagine the damages being sought by Toronto Hydro are the incremental costs and are particularly punitive in their desire.  So I am satisfied with that as being an estimate.  But ...

MR. KEIZER:  Well, let us take it away.  So to the extent -- I guess maybe what we should do it is frame it as something we take away, because I am concerned about getting into something that may be in circumstances relating to litigation and whatever else.

MR. GARNER:  I understand.

MR. KEIZER:  So the best thing to do is for us to take away the question that was asked with respect to the incremental costs associated with the failure of the contractor.  To the extent that we can advise, we may end up having to advise certain things confidentially -- in a confidential fashion.

And why don't we treat it that way?

MR. MILLAR:  Is that an undertaking, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we are at JTC1.4 -- unless anyone thinks I have that wrong.  Okay, thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.5:  TO PROVIDE A RESPONSE TO THE QUESTION OF INCREMENTAL COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE FAILURE OF THE CONTRACTOR IN A CONFIDENTIAL FASHION, IF NECESSARY

MR. LADANYI:  Mr. Millar, can I ask a quick question on Carillion?  In Energy Probe interrogatory 1C-EP-26, we asked a question about a performance bond that Carillion posted when they got the contract, and your answer was $28,351,305 in response F.

And I just have a couple of simple questions.  Did you actually get this money from them, because they obviously could not perform the contract?  Did you get this $28 million, or is this still in dispute?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Subject to check, Toronto Hydro does not have that amount on hand, no.

MR. LADANYI:  But eventually, you hope to have some of it, I expect.  Is that right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay, thank you.

MR. GLUCK:  Can we go to 2B-Staff-78, please?  This is in respect to table 3 in that response.

So table 3 shows the gross capital expenditures for customer connections, an customer contributions related to those expenditures.

Can you explain whether something has changed after 2014 that resulted in a significantly higher proportion of customer contributions for customer connections relative to the gross spend amount?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Subject to check, Mr. Gluck, there is nothing that has changed.

MR. GLUCK:  So what explains the increase in relative proportion of customer contributions relative to the gross spend on customer connections?

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Gluck, just so I understand your question, you're talking about the ratio between table 2 and table 3?  Is that what you're asking about?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.  After 2018, the ratio between customer contribution grows significantly.

MR. KEIZER:  So in other words, why is there more capital contributions trending towards the latter part of 2015-16 and '17?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Gluck, if my numbers are correct here, I think what you're referring to is in 2013 it is approximately 30 percent.

In 2014, it goes up to approximately 20 percent. It goes up to roughly 50 percent, down to 40 percent, up to 60 percent.

By its very nature the customer connections program is highly variable.  The specific types of connections that we process, the specific locations relative to Toronto Hydro's existing plant, stations, feeders, is highly variable, and variability of this nature is something that we would expect to see.

MR. GLUCK:  So let me ask you this.  Given the recent history that the relative proportion of customer contributions to the growth spend on customer connections is higher, would it maybe make sense to just use more recent -- the more recent proportion for forecasting customer contributions going forward?  I know you have a weighting approach, but perhaps taking out the first few years and using more recent data that is reflecting something that has happened, would that be more appropriate?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, we agree that it would be more appropriate to place greater weight on most recent years.  Based on table 5 of 2B-Staff-78 -- and I believe you referenced that, the weighted approach that we do take.  So 2017 you will notice is weighted approximately five times that of 2013.

So Toronto Hydro believes that its approach to forecasting already considers that to a considerable extent.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay, thank you.  I would like to talk about 2B-Staff-79, part C.

MR. KEIZER:  Just before you go on, Mr. Gluck, just to get a read on the morning, it is now ten to 11:00.  I am just wondering, Mr. Millar, what were you thinking about in terms of appropriate time for break?

MR. MILLAR:  I was going to break around 11:00 or shortly thereafter or wherever an appropriate spot is.

MR. KEIZER:  Let's try for 11:00.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  With respect to Part C of 2B-Staff-79, what I am hoping you can provide is a table that will compare the annual adjusted costs of option 2, which is the six-year replacement between 2022 and 2027, and option 3, which is the four-year replacement between 2024 and 2027, and just provide the annual amounts of capital spend for each year under those two options.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So for clarification, Part C, we have the four-year meter replacement.  You would like to add this for another option?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes, for option 2.  And also I think you provided the unadjusted costing, which based on your response I understand is just a net present value calculation that I removed.  And I would actually like the net present value calculation applied.  So the adjusted versions of both option 2 and option 3 by year.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, we can provide that.

MR. MILLAR:  JTC1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.6:  TO PROVIDE A TABLE THAT WILL COMPARE THE ANNUAL ADJUSTED COSTS OF OPTION 2, WHICH IS THE SIX-YEAR REPLACEMENT BETWEEN 2022 AND 2027, AND OPTION 3, WHICH IS THE FOUR-YEAR REPLACEMENT BETWEEN 2024 AND 2027, AND JUST PROVIDE THE ANNUAL AMOUNTS OF CAPITAL SPEND FOR EACH YEAR UNDER THOSE TWO OPTIONS.

MR. GLUCK:  And would it be reasonable to assume that the metering assets generally go into service the year the capex is spent?

So if I were to look at the table that you're going to provide me, would it make sense for me to assume the in-service additions from those metering assets would come into service the year the capital is spent?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KEIZER:  It may be -- it seems like we're trying to develop an answer on the stand, so maybe it is best to take that away as an undertaking as well, which is --


MR. GLUCK:  Sure, that is fine by me.

MR. MILLAR:  So that is JTC1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.7:  TO ADVISE WHETHER IT WOULD BE REASONABLE TO ASSUME THAT THE METERING ASSETS GENERALLY GO INTO SERVICE THE YEAR THE capex IS SPENT.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Gluck, I leave it to you.  Maybe you can -- if this is an appropriate spot to break or if you are just finishing up a series of questions here --


MR. GLUCK:  No, it moves on to another area now --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So maybe now is a good time for a break.  Let's come back at 11:15, please.
--- Recess taken at 11:00 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:15 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, can I ask everyone to take their seats and we'll get started again.
Preliminary Matters:


While you're taking your seats, I just wanted to alert people of a clerical error that I made.  JTC1.4 was in fact marked twice.  So I think this can be cleaned up just as the transcript is prepared, or so I am advised by the court reporter.

So the second 1.4 will be changed to 1.5 and everything will cascade down from there.  The next undertaking will be JTC1.8, when that is marked.  So I am hopeful that will all be cleared up through the transcript. But everyone obviously take a look tonight and if there is a problem, we can fix that.

Unless there are any preliminary matters, I will go back to Mr. Gluck.
Continued Examination by Mr. Gluck:


MR. GLUCK:  I would like to take you to 2B-Staff-80, please.

So in part B to this response, Toronto Hydro notes it has used $36,000 as the base cost per customer for the rear lot conversion program, and that this amount is based on the average cost for rear lot construction projects completed during 2015-2017 period.

And when staff looks at the costs for 2015 to 2017 for the rear lot construction program, which is shown at Exhibit 2B, section E6.1, page 20, staff calculates that the cost per customer during that period was actually $24,000, which was calculated by dividing the $49.4 million shown under the heading "rear lot conversion expenditure plan" by the 2,090 customers that were converted.

Can you please explain the discrepancy between the base cost used for the forecast period and the average cost, based on the evidence I just took you to for the 2015-2017 period?

MR. TAKI:  May I ask you to repeat the cost you calculated?

MR. GLUCK:  Sure.  So this is page 20 -- yes, page 20 under the heading "rear lot conversion expenditure plan."  49.4 million, divided by 2,090 customers equals $24,000 per customer.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  Subject to check, the average cost that we refer to in the IR response, part B, which is the cost taken from 2015 to 2017, those are -- those would be the entire projects' costs for the projects completed between 2015 and 2017.

The calculation that you performed associated with the figures, the quantities in table 8, that's taken specifically from the costs incurred in those years, and those costs may not represent the entire project costs.

And to illustrate, in some cases where the electrical was completed -- the electrical portion was completed in 2015, 2016 or 2017, the civil work might have been completed in previous years.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  So maybe you can undertake to provide me a table that proves the 36K is the appropriate number to use as the base cost for the forecast period.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, just so I can clarify the undertaking, you want to understand the basis of the base cost that was used for purposes of the forecast?  Is that what you're saying?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  So in other words, the basis upon which it was derived.  Is that what the question is?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  JTC1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.8:  WITH REFERENCE TO IR RESPONSE 2B-STAFF-80, PART B, THE CALCULATION OF THE REAR LOT CONSTRUCTION PROGRAM, TO PROVIDE A TABLE THAT PROVES THE $36,000 IS THE APPROPRIATE NUMBER TO USE AS THE BASE COST FOR THE FORECAST

MR. GLUCK:  This is a similar question.  It is with respect to the costs per pole within the box construction segment of this program, which is provided as part C to 2B-Staff-80.  And there, $29,000 is the base cost used.

I did a similar analysis using numbers from Exhibit 2B, section E6.1, page 23.  And there I divided 51.9 million by 2,422 poles and the cost per pole, based on that analysis, was $21,000 per pole.  So $8,000 less than what you are using for the forecast period.

And I guess my question is:  Can you undertake to prove that number in the same way that you intend to prove your number for the rear lot conversion program?

MR. KEIZER:  So on the same basis as the derivation of the 29,000 used for purposes of forecasting?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Keizer, do you want that as part of 1.8, or should we assign that a separate designation?

MR. KEIZER:  It doesn't matter.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's call it a new one, just so we don't waste time.  JTC1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.9:  WITH REFERENCE TO 2B-STAFF-80 PART B, TO PROVIDE A SIMILAR CALCULATION TO THE ONE REQUESTED IN JTC1.8 FOR THE CALCULATION OF COST PER POLE


MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  Looking at 2B-Staff-83, in tables 1 and 2 to this response, Toronto Hydro provides the minimum average and maximum cost per unit for automatic transfer switches, reverse power breakers and network vaults during the 2015-2017 period.

When you look at the forecast costs, which is the far right of each of those tables, the forecast cost for those three categories of spending falls between the average and maximum cost.

How did you determine the average forecast cost per unit for those three categories of assets, and why does it fall above the average but below the max?  What is the basis for determining that forecast?

MS. NARISETTY:  So to clarify, which three types of assets are you referring to?

MR. GLUCK:  Automatic transfer switches, reverse power breakers, and network vaults.

MS. NARISETTY:  Okay.  So the automatic transfer switches and the RPBs, the forecast cost is listed in table 1.

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

MS. NARISETTY:  I can take you to 2B-AMPCO-56, part B, lines 19 through 20 and moving on to the next page.

So for the previous years we completed a number of replacements, and for the 2020 to 2024 period we have 13 remaining replacements, and they are the most complex, with the largest scope of work, and therefore they are more expensive than what we have completed in the past.

MR. GLUCK:  So that is your response for the vaults.

MS. NARISETTY:  For the ATS and RPB replacements, which is table 1 of 2B Staff 83.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Is there a separate response for the vaults?  Or is that everything?

MS. NARISETTY:  So 2B AMPCO 56B covers the response for ATS and RPB vaults.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  2B Staff 84, please.  In table 1 of 2B Staff 84, the primary conductor line item has "not applicable" cited for the planned amounts over the historic period.  Please advise whether the primary conductors were part of the planned budget of 147.4 million in the 2015 to 2019 proceeding for this category of spending.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Gluck, the answer to that is yes, that particular program as filed in 2015 to 2019 would have included the replacement of conductor.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  So can you explain why there is a $36.6 million overspend in this category, when looking at the table 1 to the same response it looks like Toronto Hydro is forecasting to do less work than planned?  So there's more spending with less work completed.

If I could give you the numbers.  For poles you planned to do 11,200 poles, and now your most recent forecast of '18/'19 is still a forecast, you will do 9,500 poles, which is a variance of 15 percent, 15 percent less poles installed.  For pole top transformers you forecasted to do 3,200 poles and now you will do 3,000 poles, which is a variance of 7 percent, less pole top transformers.  And for overhead switches you had intended to do 981 switches and now you intend to do 570, which is a 42 percent variance in the amount of overhead switches what will be installed.

MS. GIRVAN:  Lawrie, where are you getting those numbers?

MR. GLUCK:  From the table.  I added up all the planned numbers and then I added up all of the actual or forecast numbers --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. GLUCK:  -- on the total basis over the period.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Gluck, the reason for the trend that you have noted there, there is actually two underlying reasons.  One reason is a change in the -- not necessarily a change in the mix, but differences in the mix that was forecasted versus the mix that was finally accomplished of the specific types of work.

The other one was at the time that we forecasted those amounts, leading up to the 2015 to 2019, we did that using the forecasting methodologies and the approaches that we had at that point in time.  So that was the best forecast that we could have provided then.

However, what you will notice between the overhead system renewal program and the underground system renewal program is some variances between what was actually accomplished and what was initially planned to be accomplished.

So you will notice a similar trend in the opposite direction for underground.  So that indicates some of the forecasting approaches that we applied at the time.

Since then we have matured, and we are far better at estimating these types of things.

MR. GLUCK:  So I think that that answer explains why you did less work.  So you did less work because you did more work in the underground, I think is what you are -- you did less overhead work because you did more work on the underground side.  Is that correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  No.  What you alluded to in this particular question, if I recall correctly, is you summed up the planned numbers and then you summed up the actual numbers and you noticed a difference there; is that correct?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  And you compared that to the expenditures?  Or that's not what you did?

MR. GLUCK:  Well, I basically -- what I did is, at section E6.5, page 17, you speak to a 36.6 million dollar overspend in this category.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  And then -- that's correct, right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  And then I looked at the amount of work that was supposed to be paid for by that budget and the amount of work that was actually paid for by that budget.

So when I look at that, it looks like you did less work and you spent more than the budget.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. GLUCK:  Then my next question is why, and why is that value for ratepayers.


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Okay.  Sorry, maybe let me split it.  There's two reasons for that.  One reason is just the mix and the type of work that was done, and the -- let's call it, in a really crude sense, a unit cost applied for that work.

The second reason for that is that at the time, our forecast for this particular program were low.  And where I was going is trying to compare that to the underground program, which is a different program.  You will see the same thing, but in the opposite direction.

MR. GLUCK:  You're saying you under-forecast the unit costs for the overhead program, and the actual unit costs were just higher.  So it wasn't that -- maybe I will leave it there.

MR. TAKI:  In the same -- on page 17, if you look at page 18, lines 5 to 10, you will see there that we talk about -- or verbatim:
"Another factor contributing to costs variances is project scope adjustment as projects progressed from high level estimates to detailed designs.  For example, designers may identify additional inferior assets that should be included, scope changes due to interference with other utilities' works, or additional restoration costs."

And similarly, we provide a similar description with respect to underground renewal.

For these programs, as well as similar programs where we are rebuilding an area or a section of a feeder, there are cases where there are variances between the high-level estimate and the detailed design estimate due to various factors.  And some of those factors include field issues that are encountered as the project progresses to more detailed design.

And in the case of the overhead program, those variances have resulted in an increase in costs, specifically 25 percent, as we've stated on page 17.

In the case of the underground program on page 27 of E6.2, those variances have reduced -- resulted in a reduction in the spending of about 39 million over the 2015 to 2019 period.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay, thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just to clarify, it's the -- I forget exactly the number you just read with respect to the under-spending on the underground.  Is that under-spending overall, or on a unit cost basis there is an under-spending as well?  Or actual unit costs on underground were lower than forecast?

MR. TAKI:  Again, on page 27 of the underground renewal program, section E6.2, where we state the 39 million lower expenditures than planned, we also state Toronto Hydro is on pace to exceed the amount of cable and number of transformers installed related to the same plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, yes?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, to answer your question.

MR. BRETT:  Can I just ask a question here?  As you know, the issue of estimates, preliminary estimates before detailed design compared with estimates later has been a generic issue for a number of utilities.

I guess my question is, apropos of your answer to Mr. Gluck, what steps are you taking, or are you taking steps to try and narrow the difference between the preliminary estimates that are made at the outset and the estimate that takes place immediately prior to construction?

As I recall -- and I apologize, I can't remember at this moment the IR, but in one of your IRs, you said you have been experimenting with a development project approach where you are, I think, introducing another intermediate estimate in between the preliminary estimate and the actual sort of your last -- your last estimate before you start construction once detailed design is completed.

Could you address that a little bit?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Brett, if I can direct your attention to 2B-BOMA-108 --


MR. BRETT:  Right, that's the one I couldn't remember.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  And that particular question asks what progress has THESL made to move the estimating process downstream.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I am looking at line 19, where it says:
"Beginning between 2014 and 2015, Toronto Hydro introduced an intermediate project development function to improve the quality and consistency of budgetary estimates and scope packages prior to the detailed design phase."


So what I was referring to earlier around some of the improvements that we've made in our forecasting methodology, part of them are attributed to the specific improvement in our estimating process.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. GLUCK:  Can I take you to 2B-Staff-85 (sic), table 1?  So with respect to the transformer station outdoor breakers, can you please explain the 30 percent increase in capital cost with 20 percent less work being completed in that category?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  2B-Staff-81?

MR. GLUCK:  85, sorry.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Oh, 85?  My apologies.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Gluck, which line are you looking at on table 1?

MR. GLUCK:  Outdoor breakers, line 2.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Gluck, just to clarify, you are looking at line 2 of table 1?

MR. GLUCK:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  What you are doing is you have divided, let's say for the 2015-2019 period, 9.1 million by 35 units?  Is that what you are doing?

MR. GLUCK:  I think I just took 11.8 minus 9.1 is 2.7, 2.7 divided by 9.1 is a 30 percent increase in costs, and then I took 28 minus 35 is minus 7, and minus 7 divided by 35 is 20 percent less outdoor breakers being installed.

I don't mind if we take an undertaking for this.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We may have to, but maybe if I can just identify here.  So Toronto Hydro is proposing to replace nine breakers, nine units.  And that is from Exhibit 2B, section E6.6, at page 50.

Generally speaking, in the stations' environment, the specific characteristics of the units that you will be replacing are -- can generally quite impact the specific unit cost.  And given the specifics of these nine breakers, which I don't have specifically on hand in comparison to the breakers that we'd done previously, the numbers might be slightly different.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  My question is mostly -- well, it is -- my question is about the historic period.  I have two related questions.  So I have this outdoor breaker question, comparing the increase in capex to less outdoor breakers being installed, and I have the same question for the municipal station switchgear, which is the next line, which shows that there was a $5.2 million overspend with the same amount of work being done.

So 11 were planned to be installed and 11 were installed, but it cost 5.2 million more, which is a 55 percent increase.

So perhaps you could take an undertaking for both of these categories of the spending and explain the reasons for the increase in capex with respect to either less work or the same amount of work being completed respectively for the two categories.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So to clarify, that would be for TS outdoor breakers and MS switchgear.

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  And that is with reference to 2B-Staff-85.

MR. GLUCK:  Yes, table 1.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  JTC1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.10:  FOR BOTH CATEGORIES OF SPENDING TO EXPLAIN THE REASONS FOR THE INCREASE IN capex WITH RESPECT TO EITHER LESS WORK OR THE SAME AMOUNT OF WORK BEING COMPLETED RESPECTIVELY FOR THE TWO CATEGORIES.

MR. GLUCK:  2B-Staff-86, please.

So with respect to your response to Part A of this question, staff understands that there are times where an asset that is targeted for planned capital -- for planned capital needs to be addressed urgently and becomes part of the reactive program.  Is this the right understanding of Part A to this response?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  May I ask you to repeat that, Mr. Gluck?

MR. GLUCK:  Sure.  So we understand based on this response that there are times where an asset that is originally targeted for planned work under the planned capital budget is -- needs to be urgently addressed and it becomes part of the reactive capital program.  Is that correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. GLUCK:  So does Toronto Hydro's overall capital forecast reflect that some portion, which is cited as 10 to 20 percent of the work requests at page 2 of the response to part A that we're talking about now, does your overall capital forecast reflect that 10 to 20 percent of your planned work will end up being handled reactively and form part of the reactive capital budget?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The forecast for reactive capital uses the same assumptions as the current period.  Yes, it would assume that approximately 10 to 20 percent of assets will involve intervention sooner than planned.

MR. GLUCK:  So does that mean that your planned capital budget on a forecast basis has already been reduced by the fact that the reactive capital budget contains what would have been 10 to 20 percent of that planned budget?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Perhaps let me clarify.  When Toronto Hydro plans a particular project, let's say we develop a scope of work to renew a given line segment.  What we're saying here is that -- so -- and let's assume in that line segment one particular asset, a pole, for example, was to require reactive replacement.  Toronto Hydro would go in and replace only the one pole as part of the reactive program.  The remainder of the project would still occur on a planned basis.

So all we're saying here is that of all work requests that Toronto Hydro expects approximately 10 to 20 percent will involve intervention of an asset that is actually part of an existing planned program.  Not that we would move entire projects from a planned budget and do the entire project as part of the reactive program.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  So using your example on a forecast basis, so you have a large project, and one piece of that project needs to be reactively replaced.  Wouldn't it on a forecast basis that mean that you have forecast in your planned -- I would like to use numbers.  It is probably easier.  On a planned basis let's say you have a 100 million dollar program, whatever, line replacement that you are talking about, and then 10 percent of that, $10 million, so 10 percent of that, needs to be reactively done.

On a forecast basis, wouldn't you be double-counting the amount of capital that would be done because you are not reflecting the fact that some portion of the planned capital budget is actually going to occur within the reactive capital budget?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  No, Mr. Gluck.  It is actually the opposite scenario.  It's of all of the reactive work that we're planning to do, or that comes up in a given year that we need to do, roughly 10 to 20 percent of that has also been identified to be addressed on a planned basis.

So what would happen here is that the reactive -- the reactive capital which is forecasted the way it's been historically would be as it is.  On a planned basis the fact that we have addressed something reactively would simply generally speaking come out of the planned project, so there wouldn't be any double-counting.

MR. GLUCK:  I understand that there clearly wouldn't be any double-counting when you are looking backwards, because looking backwards, whatever happens happens; so you are not going to put the same amount of capital in one program in another program.

But I am talking about looking forward.  Given that your planned budget includes amounts that will be done under the reactive budget and you have stated that in part A to this response, wouldn't there be implicit to that a double-counting of the same capital only on a forecast basis?  So the money you are asking for going forward.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  When we would do our planning and we'd be forecasting out, we would make allowances for some substantive assets that we would be looking to replace.


We would make certain allowances based on what we would expect from a reactive replacement, on a reactive replacement basis, and that would really be done on a case-by-case basis and would be very specific and unique to the programs themselves.


MR. GLUCK:  I guess my question is can you show how you did that, and how much you took out of your planned capital budget to reflect some of it is covered, or will be on an expected basis covered through the reactive capital budget?


[Witness panel confers]

MR. KEIZER:  Just to clarify, Mr. Gluck, your question when you talk about the 10 to 20 percent.  The 10 to 20 percent isn't capital expenditures; it's work requests.


MR. GLUCK:  Right, and I understand that out of this response.  I was under the impression it was 20 percent of capital work, and you're saying it is some other amount. 



Now I am interested in determining, did you -- whatever that number ends up being, 10 to 20 percent of work requests equals some amount of capital.


And have you actually went into your planned capital budget and removed that number from your planned expenditures to ensure that there is no double-counting on a forecast basis?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Perhaps this might be helpful, Mr. Gluck.  A few moments ago -- it might have been just prior to the break -- we were speaking specifically about the rear lot program, the box construction program, and the fact that some of the forecasts that you see here are on a per-customer basis based on actual costs per customer.


So for the actual projects that were done, any assets that would have been replaced reactively would not have made their way into the actual costs, and therefore would not have made their way into the per-customer costs or per-pole costs that we have used to forecast going forward.


So that would be one example where the methodology that is applied already considers the fact that a certain number of assets would be replaced reactively.


MR. GLUCK:  I think that confirms that the unit costs wouldn't reflect these assets that were reactively replaced in the historic period.  But I don't know that that would actually remove capital dollars from your planned budget.


It would remove that replacement project on -- the impact of that replacement project on the unit cost.  So let's say those were more expensive.  So 36 grand could have been 40, so it would reflect that.


But I don't think it would actually reflect the removal of dollars from your planned capital budget to reflect that some work will be done reactively, and you know that now.


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  No.  I think the very fact that we are forecasting on the basis of actuals in the past, that unit cost would be some percentage higher had we been double -- for lack of a better term, double counting assets that will be replaced reactively.


MR. GLUCK:  I think we're agreeing on the unit costs part, that the unit costs could have been higher.  I agree with that, if you would include that in the calculation.


But I think you actually have to go and manually, when you do a planned -- when you establish your planned capital budget, that you know that some piece of the work that you are actually planning on doing, so number of units.  Let's move away from unit costs, that you are going to replace 2400 whatever --


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I see, okay.  I see where the confusion is.


MR. GLUCK:  It's actually going to be 22.


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  What I was saying is it's done on a case-by-case basis.  The specific situation I had in mind is with rear lot, where we're doing it on a per-customer basis.  The fact we're doing it on a per-customer basis -- I'm just make this up, but on a per-customer basis had we not been factoring in reactive replacements, we might be forecasting 2.2 poles per customer.  But once you look at your actuals, you are actually at two poles per customer and that would work its way through to the cost per customer.  So that is the example that I am referring to.  So that is already implicitly contained within the methodology that we have used.


MR. TAKI:  I think to further clarify, in the case of the rear lot, the example that's being used here, that 36,000 per customer is historical.


So in other words, it already incorporates into it some assets being replaced reactively.  We have used that cost to forecast going forward.


MR. GLUCK:  I think where we keep getting stuck at this unit cost -- I understand that the unit costs would be a different number.  But if I times my unit costs, $36,000 by 2200 meters, I get a number.  If it should have been $40,000 and I times that by 22,000 meters, I am going to get a higher number.


So I see how your 36 grand reflects that some reactive replacements happened.  But where I am still lost is maybe your 2,400 poles, let's say, going forward should actually be 22, because you know or you can forecast that some number of those poles are going to be in the reactive program.  So your $36,000 should be multiplied by 2,200, not 2,400.


MR. TAKI:  In that case, you would be -- your cost estimates would be lower.  And you would not be -- because what you are doing is, if the $36,000 is already addressing some assets being replaced reactively, you would then not reduce your forecasted asset numbers.


Had the 36,000 not incorporated some reactive replacements, yes, I would agree with you, it would make sense to reduce the number of assets that are forecasted.


You can't reduce it on both the asset numbers and the dollar.  It has already been incorporated into $36,000 per customer.


MR. GLUCK:  Okay, I will leave it there for now.


MR. QUINN:  Can I see if I can assist, Lawrie?  The unit costs are going to be what they are based upon historical construction; correct?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  So if 10 percent of your work happens on a reactive basis instead of a planned basis, those dollars, those units are not going to be replaced by the planned capital budget, what's in the planned capital budget.  Correct?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  They may or they may not.


MR. QUINN:  If it's done on a reactive basis.


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  If it's done on a --


MR. QUINN:  So just stopping there, you now have 2,200 instead of 2,400 that should be planned to come out of that capital budget, correct?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I believe it is Mr. Quinn?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So I think where we're going here is as follows.  The question was asked, do we -- does Toronto Hydro require less capital, given that a portion of the planned work will naturally be done reactively in any given year.


And the question was asked whether Toronto Hydro can demonstrate that it has already considered that in its planning.


And the response that I provided earlier is we have.  And in order to demonstrate that, we would have to look at each of the specific programs that are in place and look at the specific program details.


One example that I provided was with respect to rear lot, and the fact that we are forecasting on a per customer basis.  So I think that in and of itself demonstrates that reactive is being considered there.


What we're now talking about is other programs that are not -- that are not estimated on a per-customer basis, but a per-asset basis of some type.


And my response was, in some cases it would alleviate the need for planned capital, and in other cases it won't.  For example, in the box construction program where we're converting from a 4-kV asset up to a 13.8-kV asset, even though we went in and reactively replaced the transformer, at some point in time we would still have to go in two or three years later when that planned program occurs to replace that transformer.


So in some cases, that is already accounted for.  In other programs, specific allowances would be made for assets that would be replaced reactively.


MR. QUINN:  I understand your answer.  Thank you very much.  My question is:  Can you demonstrate which programs where there was -- there were adjustments made to make sure that your capital ask is aligned with how the money would be spent?


MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think they have attempted to answer this.  We may be somewhat missing in terms of the understanding, but I think that the panellists have attempted to answer it.

So maybe the best course of action is -- you have stated a very clear question, Mr. Quinn -- is that we take away the transcript and what's been asked and what we have actually said, and we provide an undertaking to describe how we have taken into account the reactive replacement of capital with respect to our capital forecast on a planned basis.

MR. MILLAR:  Yeah, I think that would be very helpful, Mr. Keizer, so why don't we do that.  Tom, is that okay?

MR. BRETT:  To be helpful, I just wanted to add, I think I am saying the same thing Charles is saying, and if you could, in that response, give some examples of where you have reduced the other capital.

I mean, just noodling about it, a case comes to mind if a station breaks down, there is some sort of horrible breakdown in a station, which you would have had in your plan for replacing it at a certain point, but you have to do it immediately.  Presumably in that case -- I am just giving this as an example, and I am not trying to suggest it is the best example, but presumably in that case you wouldn't be doing -- have station numbers in there for doing it once now because you have to and another time in three years.

MR. KEIZER:  We'll as part of the explanation provide some illustrative examples as to --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So we will call that JTC1.11, and essentially it is to show how you will ensure there is no double-counting in the capital budget.  There may or may not be examples around that.  We will wait to see the undertaking response.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.11:  TO SHOW HOW THESL WILL ENSURE THERE IS NO DOUBLE-COUNTING IN THE CAPITAL BUDGET.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you continue, Mr. Gluck?

MR. GARNER:  I am wondering, excuse me, if I can interrupt, and then that's all fine, because I had questions in the same area.  If I could ask you to look at 2B-AMPCO-22, which actually has this percentage of planned reactive versus total capital.  For one reason I think it's -- you have an answer in there that I think is explaining what you are explaining.  I just wanted to understand it completely.

My question was really following in sort of the same line as Mr. Gluck.  First of all, I am not familiar with your reactive budget as you have in this table showing it.  And again, it is percentages of your capital.

Can you just remind me, how do you forecast that X dollars of reactive is going to happen over the next few years?  How do you come to that number?

 So if you are looking at table 1, just to be helpful, on page 2 of 2 of AMPCO 22, there is the historical numbers, reactive, and then there is forecast numbers, so I'm -- of percentages.  So I am wondering how you got the forecast numbers from the historical or something.  How did you do that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So Mr. Garner, you are asking how the percentage was forecast between 2020 and 2024 in table 1?

MR. GARNER:  Correct.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So I am just looking at page number 1.  That specific calculation is the planned -- so it is simply the ratio of reactive capital to planned capital, excluding demand-based projects in customer connections externally initiated planned and of course excluding reactive.  It is simply a ratio in this particular table.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, I don't understand.  Reactive is by definition unknown, right?  That is the whole concept of reactive.  It is an unknown amount.

So what I am asking is, you're saying in this -- if I read it right -- you can tell me if I am wrong -- what you're saying in this table, of all of our capital budget in 2020, 11.8 percent will be unknown and reactive.  It will be things we don't know, we just have to do, because we don't know them.  Is that right?  That is your forecast for 2020?

So my question would be, is, well, how did you come up with the -- if that statement is correct, then the question is:  Well, how did you come up with 11.8?  Why isn't it 13.3?  Or 15?  Or any other number on the plan.  And likewise 10.7 the next year, et cetera, et cetera.

And the reason I ask -- I know you are looking.  But the reason I ask is if it were just reactive you would think, I would have thought, the number would have been the same number because one doesn't know.  It would just say 10 percent of our budget every year is going to be reactive, but there seems to be a certain precision in these numbers that tell me a precision of reactiveness which seems counterintuitive to me.

How would you be -- wouldn't you be more generalized in your reactive work?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So Mr. Garner, perhaps this might be helpful.  We don't forecast reactive capital as a percentage of our total budget.  What we do is we look specifically at the reactive capital needs historically.

MR. GARNER:  Right.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  And what we do is, we do a trend analysis based on that, and then we might make some adjustments based on where we think reactive trends are going.  Perhaps maybe if I can direct you to Exhibit 2B, E6.7 --


MR. GARNER:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  -- page 9.  In the middle of the page there is a particular chart which shows you the number of work requests that were responded to by the reactive capital program.

MR. GARNER:  Right.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  And it would be a trend analysis using indicators such as the number of work requests that we would use to establish the forecast for reactive --


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  But this is why I don't understand the number if I have got what you said correctly.  If you have a trend analysis then that gives you a trend number, not a variable number.  So then why would -- if that is the case, where I'm maybe getting lost here is why wouldn't 2020 be the same number as '21, '22, '23, and '24?  Why would a trend analysis give me a variable number in each year?  Wouldn't the trend analysis simply project a number going forward and say, based on the past we're averaging our number this way?  What gives me the variability?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The reason you see variability there, Mr. Garner, is because of the denominator that is being used to arrive at that percentage in the specific context of 2B-AMPCO-22, and that denominator varies.  It is the number of -- I believe it is total capital.

So this, for us, we do not forecast on a percentage of total capital basis.  We look at strictly and only the reactive capital needs, and we use that as the basis for forecasting the dollars that we expect between 2020 and 2024 for the particular program.

It may be helpful if you look at the same exhibit that we've been on, 2B, the 6.7, this time page 15, lines 12 to 16.  The expenditures for reactive capital are forecasted based on historic trends in the work requests and the volumes and types of work, which is what I alluded to earlier.

MR. GARNER:  So looking at that table on the reactive capital 2020, you forecasted different reactive capital from 2020 to 2021.  You're going to spend 56.4 and 57.5 respectively in those two years, correct, reading that table?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  That's the forecast anyway, right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  And they're both reactive, in the sense that you don't really know -- you can't in a sense plan for them because by definition, they're non-plannable, right?  They're reactive things that you are doing, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  And because you can't plan for them, and that's where I am still getting lost is why wouldn't the number be 56.4 million in 2021 just because there's more capital?  There's more assets out there?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Those are year of dollars.  So that would be 2021 dollars.

MR. GARNER:  So that's just inflated, is that what you're saying?  Is that number just being inflated?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that is inflation.

MR. GARNER:  I see.  Okay, thank you.

MS. GRICE:  Can I just ask -- since we were on 2B-AMPCO-22, I have a quick question on that chart.

The percentages don't add up to a hundred percent.  Can you just confirm again what is missing that would -- if we added lines would take it to total capital expenditures equal to a hundred percent for each year?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  In page 1 of the response of that IR, we have stated what we considered planned capital and in the definition it is stated that customer connections, plant relocation and expansion projects have been excluded as well.

MS. GRICE:  When it says excludes reactive and corrective capital, what is that again?  Oh, I'm sorry, okay, sorry.  Never mind.  I understand.  Okay, thank you.

MR. GLUCK:  My next question is with respect to 2B-Staff-90.  In response to part A of that interrogatory, Toronto Hydro confirmed it will own the behind-the-meter storage assets as distribution assets.

Please also confirm that Toronto Hydro will operate these behind-the-meter storage assets.

MR. TAKI:  May I ask you to repeat your question?

MR. GLUCK:  Can you advise whether Toronto Hydro will operate the behind-the-meter storage assets.

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  In response to part C of the same interrogatory, Toronto Hydro stated that it facilitates the connection of behind-the-meter energy-storage systems in the normal course and in accordance with its obligations to provide access to the system.

Can you please discuss the relevant obligations that Toronto Hydro is referring to in this statement, and explain how these obligations are applicable to the connection of behind-the-meter storage projects.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Gluck, can you repeat that question?  The witness may have got it, but I missed it.

MR. MILLAR:  Your mic is off, Lawrie.

MR. GLUCK:  Is that working now?  The last sentence in response to part C says:
"Toronto Hydro facilitates those connections," referring to the behind-the-meter energy-storage systems, "per the normal course in accordance with its obligation to provide access to the system."

Our question is what obligations are you referring to, whether they're legislative or through the OEB's guidance or the OEB's rules.  What exactly are you referring to that speaks to your obligation to provide behind-the-meter energy-storage systems?

MR. KEIZER:  Can I just have a moment, please?

Mr. Gluck, I don't think that is necessarily a question for the witness because I think it is probably related to a legal obligation, statutorily based in terms of obligations to serve.

MR. GLUCK:  Would you be willing to take an undertaking to provide a response to that question?

MR. KEIZER:  To provide clarity as to what was intended by the reference in paragraph C?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes, to exactly what sections of what codes and rules you are referring to that that obligation is related to.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, we will.

MR. MILLAR:  JTC1.12.


UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.12:  TO CLARIFY THE REFERENCE TO CODES AND RULES IN THE RESPONSE TO IR 2B-Staff-90, PART C


MR. GLUCK:  At Exhibit 2B, section E7.2, page 31,  Toronto Hydro notes that it requires 100 percent of the cost of the behind-the-meter energy-storage system to be contributed by the customer, in accordance with the beneficiary pays principle.

In accordance with what section of the OEB's applicable codes and guidance is this capital contribution charged?  I think it's connected to my previous question.

MR. KEIZER:  I would probably tie it into the same undertaking.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  And can you please provide an example of the calculation used to determine the amount of capital contribution to be paid by the customer, including all the assumptions and inputs.  As part of that response, please specifically show how the capital contribution recovers ongoing OM&A costs, which is a statement that Toronto Hydro made in response to 2B-Staff-87, part D.

MR. KEIZER:  That is a fairly lengthy question.

MR. GLUCK:  I will break it down.  What we really want is the calculation you used to determine the amount of capital contribution.  What assumptions and inputs are beneath that calculation that show how you determined the amount of capital contribution that is required.  You can use an illustrative example or...

MR. KEIZER:  I think that would be a separate undertaking, but we will undertake to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  JTC1.13.


UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.13:  TO PROVIDE THE CALCULATION USED TO CALCULATE THE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION AMOUNT


MR. GLUCK:  In response to 2B-Staff-90, part E, Toronto Hydro stated it does not have an affiliate that provides energy-storage systems to customers.

Staff understands that you do not currently have an affiliate that provides these services, but we would like a full response to that question, assuming that the OEB determined that behind-the-meter storage is not a distribution activity and required the removal of these assets from the financials of the regulated distribution business.

Specifically, we would like to know the impacts of -- that that removal would have on the fixed asset continuity schedules and on the revenue requirement during the forecast period.

MR. KEIZER:  You are basically asking if there is a disallowance, what the implication is?  Is that what you're saying?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Not with respect to whether we will or won't, or have an affiliate, or anything like that.  When you say you wanted a complete response --


MR. GLUCK:  Basically, if the Board were to determine that behind-the-meter storage is not a distribution activity and you were to continue with your plans to install behind-the-meter energy-storage systems, and given that you already have begun at least one project related to this, so already in your fixed asset continuity schedules for the historic period at least 2018-19, you have in those schedules, dollars associated with behind-the-meter storage.

So what we want to know is how they would be removed from the distribution business, and how that would impact revenue requirement going forward if you were to have a shared service agreement with an affiliate to provide these behind-the-meter energy-storage services.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think that -- can I just have one moment?

MR. GLUCK:  Sure.

MR. KEIZER:  With respect to any kind of particular calculation of the removal of any number from a schedule and the implication of the removal of that number from a schedule, I think that is something we can undertake to do.

With respect to speculating as to the nature in which Toronto Hydro would proceed in light of any decision from the Board, I think that Toronto Hydro at this point in time isn't prepared to provide that information, because it wouldn't know what that information was, subject to the Board's decision.  So I don't think it wants to speculate either one, what the Board would say, or two, how it would react not having seen the particular wording of the decision itself.

MR. GLUCK:  That's fair for me.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JTC1.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.14:  TO PROVIDE A RESPONSE TO 2B-Staff-90, PART E, SHOWING THE IMPLICATION OF THE REMOVAL OF ANY NUMBER FROM THE SCHEDULE


MR. GLUCK:  My next question is with respect to 2B-Staff-89, part D.  So in this response Toronto Hydro did not explain why recovering 94 percent from the renewable enabling energy-storage system project costs from provincial ratepayers is still appropriate.

It stated that it has not undertaken a more rigorous detailed direct benefit assessment.  Toronto Hydro noted its intent to undertake a more detailed analysis based on project-specific circumstances and the beneficiary-pays principle.

What staff would like to understand is why Toronto Hydro believes recovering 94 percent through the Provincial Benefit Program is still appropriate, given that a storage solution may have additional benefits to the distribution system directly.

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Gluck, can you clarify what additional information you are looking for over and above what is provided in our response in D?

MR. GLUCK:  In your response you essentially say that you are going to do a detailed direct benefit assessment after.  So you are going to do these projects and then eventually do one.  Is that correct?

MR. TAKI:  That's not what we state.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  So what do you state?

MR. TAKI:  What it says here is that Toronto Hydro intends to undertake a more detailed analysis based on project-specific circumstances.  The facts of the application of the beneficiary-pays principle to these investments.  So we're not stating we are going to do it after the project is done.  What we're saying is the projects that have been described in the evidence are potential locations and potential sort of sizes of projects and characteristics of projects.  Once we are closer to finalizing the specific projects, we will be in a better position to undertake this type of analysis.

MR. GLUCK:  So you are asking the Board to approve, through the Provincial Benefit Program, that 94 percent of the in-service additions related to these assets will be paid by all ratepayers in Ontario, correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  And your response in part D is that you are going to be doing a detailed analysis.  Is it your intent to do and provide that detailed analysis in advance of the Board's determination in this proceeding or is it going to happen at some point after the Board determines how much of the rate base associated with these assets should be paid by all ratepayers or Toronto Hydro's ratepayers?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  We are not proposing to complete the analysis before the Board's decision on this application.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  And your response is that you believe 94 percent is the correct number in the absence of that analysis?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, we do.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay, thank you.  In response to part G of 2B-Staff-88, Staff asked why the renewable enabling energy system, energy storage system costs, were not declining in accordance with the statement that costs continue to decline from U.S. $300 per kilowatt-hour in 2015 to an expected U.S. $110 a kilowatt-hour in 2024.

We asked this question based on some calculations we did on tables 14 and 16 at Exhibit 2B, section E7.2, page 25.  So our calculations show that the cost of energy storage systems for the renewable enabling-related batteries does not decline over the period.

And your response is that the statement that the Board staff referred to is from a Bloomberg news article and that the cost estimates that you provided are representative of the all-in costs of deploying the energy storage system.  And that is back to 2B-Staff-88, part G.

And our question remains, if you're forecasting that the cost of the actual battery is going to decline over the period that we're talking about, why wouldn't your all-in cost also decline over that same period, obviously not one to one, because you have additional engineering and support costs and things like that, but wouldn't we expect to see a decline in the costs -- the all-in cost as the battery, which is the biggest portion of the cost, is also declining?

MR. TAKI:  In table 15, page 25 of E7.2, which is the table you are referring to, right, $1 million per year?

MR. GLUCK:  I was referring to tables 14 and 16.  What we did is we just divided the capital costs by the megawatt hours, and we would expect a significant decline over time, based on your statement that battery costs are declining and we're not seeing that decline.

MR. TAKI:  Oh, I see.  Okay.  So in other words, you are -- for the Fairchild TS project, the $2.3 million for the 1.1 megawatts, as compared to the first project, $.8 million for .35 megawatts?

MR. GLUCK:  And we also -- yes, we did that.  We also included table 14, which has two other projects in it.  And we expected to see from table 14 all the way to the bottom that the battery costs continue to decline because each of these projects goes into -- is expected to be constructed a year later.  And as the battery prices are rapidly falling, based on your evidence, we would expect that your cost per project would also decline, not one for one, but be declining.

MR. TAKI:  Well, it may be fair to take the position that the costs associated with lithium ion batteries, which are the most common right now, would likely decrease.  Toronto Hydro has not committed that these will be necessarily lithium ion batteries.  We are considering other technologies that could be more effective at providing a solution.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  So your statement that battery costs are declining is related to a battery that you may or may not buy?  Is that correct?

MR. TAKI:  That statement is specific to lithium ion batteries.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay, thank you.  Moving on to 2B-Staff-93.  This is with respect to table 1, and table 1 shows that the budget for the Copeland Phase 2 project increased from $48 million in the last proceeding to $88.5 million as part of the current proceeding.

One of the causes of the forecast cost increase is a change to an engineering procurement and construction contract model for the Phase 2 project.  Is that correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. GLUCK:  Can you explain why the change to an EPC contract model alone would lead to higher costs.

MR. TRGACHEF:  The structure of an EPC procured contract assumes risks and liabilities where a design bid build contract, as we had in Phase 1, did not.

So with those increased risks, it does put pressure on that cost.

MR. GLUCK:  Are you saying the EPC contract model has more risk inherent to it, or that it considers more risks than the previous version of the contract?

MR. TRGACHEF:  It assumes more risk.

MR. GLUCK:  It assumes more risk.  It is not inherent to the type of contract you're taking, it just assumes more broad risks than the previous contract?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Sorry, can you clarify the differences?

MR. GLUCK:  To me -- I guess what I am trying to say is a contract -- a type of contract can have risk inherent to it, like Toronto Hydro is taking more risk by taking that type of contract.

Whereas what I think you're saying to me is that in its assumption of the cost, it considers risks that are not related to the type of contract you're taking, but broader risks related to the project are incorporated in your cost forecast under that type of contract.

MR. TRGACHEF:  I would say it takes on all risk embedded in that contract.  So regardless if it's associated risk or a risk that it takes on, an EPC contract is an all-in cost for that contract to take all risks associated within that contract.

MR. GLUCK:  So is Toronto Hydro taking more risk by using an EPC contract model?

MR. TRGACHEF:  I would say no.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.

MR. BRETT:  You said no to that?

MR. GLUCK:  Can you please provide a breakdown between the cost increases that have been forecast between what you're forecasting now as part of this proceeding and what you forecasted as part of the last proceeding, broken down by the three categories of -- I guess three reasons why the price of the project went up by about $40 million?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So to clarify this --


MR. KEIZER:  I just wanted to clarify the three reasons you're talking about.

MR. GLUCK:  Sure.  You have project structure,  lessons learned, and cost escalation.  Those are the three sub-categories listed in the response.

MR. TRGACHEF:  You're referring to table 1 in EB-2014-0116?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.  I am comparing the $48 million to the $88.5 million, and your response is for those three reasons we just discussed, the project went from 48 to 88, and we would like a breakdown between the reasons that make up that $40 million increase.

MR. TRGACHEF:  Those would be the three main drivers.  However, I would add that the estimate that was provided in 2014 was an early estimate with information that was available at that time.  In particular, the lessons learned that we have learned from in Copeland Phase 1 were not available at that time.  And you can see how, if I take you to Staff 95 and the breakout of our updated budget, how that differentiates from the forecast that was provided in 2012.

MR. GLUCK:  Which part of Staff 95?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Staff 95, part F, where we break down the updated costing on Copeland Phase 2.  You can see the components that we have broken out between project management, ancillary costing, construction, major electrical equipment, and design and pre-construction.

In comparison to the forecasted cost that you are referring to in table 1, the $48 million was primarily a procurement exercise.  It did not include all of the factors that we have incorporated in the new forecast.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Gluck, I want to do a time check.  We will be stopping for lunch soon.  Maybe you could pick a spot between question areas, and we can break at that point.

MR. GLUCK:  I am moving actually into OM&A right now.

MR. MILLAR:  This would be a good spot?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's take our break.  Mr. Keizer, can we do 45 or 50 minutes, something like that, a little less than an hour?  Or do you need the full hour?

MR. KEIZER:  I think at this stage the witnesses have been up there for a while, and we had a short break this morning.  Maybe try for an hour.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's do 1:45 then.

MR. BRETT:  Can I ask a quick question?

MR. MILLAR:  If it is a follow-up on what Mr. Gluck asked, go ahead.

MR. BRETT:  I just wanted to be clear, or ensure I am clear on one thing.

We talked about the two different types of contracts and you, when moving to an EPC contract, I think that you said or at least I would ask -- I think what is the case, what you are saying is that if you moved to an EPC contract, certain risks are being taken off your shoulders and placed on the EPC contractor's shoulders and that, everything else being equal, lead to an increase in price of the contract.

In other words, the contractor is pricing-in more risk.  Is that fair, or did I misunderstand?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Can you repeat the last part of that, please?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  In moving to an EPC contract, you are moving to a contract where the contractor, EPC contractor would take on more risk than he would -- than would have been the case for a contractor building under a conventional contract.

And if he's taking on more risk, the EPC contractor would want a higher price, essentially.

MR. TRGACHEF:  That would be correct.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let's take our lunch break, 1:45, please.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:45 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:47 p.m.

MR. MILLAR:  If I can ask everyone to take their seats, we'll get started again.  Okay.  We're going to get started again, people.  Mr. Gluck has just a little bit left and then I think we're moving to Mr. Rubenstein, and then we will see where we go from there.

Mr. Keizer, anything arising over lunch that we need to discuss?

MR. KEIZER:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Mr. Gluck.

MR. GLUCK:  I am going to 4A-Staff-115.  In response to Part A of 4A Staff 115, Toronto Hydro stated that the cost of its DSP are part of normal planning activities and are not considered one-time costs.

With respect to the studies filed in support of the DSP completed by consultants, are those costs included in part of the asset and program management project or in the one-time application costs?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Gluck, may I ask you which study specifically you're referring to?

MR. GLUCK:  Really any of the studies that would have been filed as part of Appendix -- not Appendix, Exhibit 2B.

MS. CIPOLLA:  2D?

MR. GLUCK:  2B.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. COBAN:  Mr. Gluck, maybe I can just direct the witnesses to 1A-CCC-8.  It is an IR that lists all of the studies that Toronto Hydro filed in support of this application.  I think that will just help you be able to speak to which ones are reflected in the asset and program management budget.

MR. GLUCK:  Sure.  So I guess my question now based on this table is, are any of these studies not included in the one-time costs of the application?

MS. CIPOLLA:  I believe your answer would be better handled with panel number 2 and Mr. Zeni.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay, thank you.  In response to part C of the same interrogatory, Toronto Hydro stated that 2020 includes a forecast $1.2 million for CWIP write-offs in the asset and program management budget.  Please advise whether a CWIP write-off amount was included as part of the 2015 asset and program management budget approved by the OEB.

MS. CIPOLLA:  Mr. Gluck, it is very hard to hear you back here with the fan.  I am not sure if you could just repeat the question.

MR. GLUCK:  Sure.  In response to part C Toronto Hydro stated that 2020 includes a forecast 1.2 million for CWIP write-offs in the asset and program management budget.  Please advise whether a CWIP write-off amount was included as part of the 2015 asset and program management budget approved by the OEB.

MS. CIPOLLA:  The 2015 amount only had $400,000 included.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Are there CWIP write-off amounts forecast for 2020 in any other OM&A programs?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  If I can refer you to interrogatory 4A-AMPCO-90, part H, this lists out the forecast by year.

MR. GLUCK:  So it is fair to say that there are no CWIP write-offs in any other program forecast, because I think your forecast for the asset and program management budget is $1.2 million.

MS. CIPOLLA:  That's correct.

MR. GLUCK:  So this is it?  Okay, thank you.

With respect to 4B-Staff-139.  In response to part A of this interrogatory Toronto Hydro provided a list of the assets for which the proposed useful lives are outside the range established in the Kinectrics study.  Please advise whether Toronto Hydro has ever revisited the appropriateness of the departures from the Kinectrics report with respect to the asset categories in Figure 1.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Sorry, could you please repeat the question?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.  Has Toronto Hydro ever revisited the appropriateness of the useful lives with respect to the asset classes that are set out in Figure 1?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  For the purpose of external financial reporting we review useful lives on an annual basis to ensure they're consistent to our capitalization policy, and based on that review there is no changes or consideration at this point.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  So there's been no changes to the useful lives for these assets since the 2009 Toronto Hydro specific study that was completed?

MS. CIPOLLA:  That's correct.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  My next question is with respect to 4B-Staff-141.  In response to part B of this interrogatory, Toronto Hydro shows that the derecognition expense was calculated on the basis of the historical relationship between derecognition and capital expenditures.  And staff does agree that there seems to be a correlation between derecognition and capex, at least in recent history.

Can you please discuss why this relationship exists?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  The relationship exists because the removal of the assets, which is triggering derecognition, is triggered by construction work, which is when capital expenses are incurred.

MR. GLUCK:  So you derecognize at the time that you start the capital project, not when the capital project that is replacing some asset before the end of its useful life, as opposed to doing it on the basis of when that new asset comes in-service.  Is that correct?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  No.  The derecognition historicals happens once the new asset is in-service.

MR. GLUCK:  So wouldn't the relationship then be between derecognition and in-service additions, as opposed to derecognition and capex?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Given the nature of the program, we forecast based on the derecognition of capex, given the nature of the tendency of the nature of the work that we do, which has a lot of repetitive work within it, based on the program.

And we do not forecast on a detailed ISA basis to be able to then use that as an appropriate proxy by type.

MR. GARNER:  Can I jump in?  I had a question here also.  I'm sorry.  Maybe it would help me to Mr. Gluck's question.

The relationship between derecognition and capex that you have here, can you describe that relationship, how that relationship is, what that relationship is?  How you do that, just the mechanics of what the relationship is?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  The table that you see, table 1 as part of that response, shows the high level relationship with derecognition and capex and historicals.  This of course happens at a much more detailed level.

But essentially when construction work happens and capex is incurred, part of that work involves removing an asset and this can be different for different programs, which is essentially the relationship between derecognition and capex.

MR. GARNER:  So I'm sorry, Mr. Gluck, if you don't mind me following up.  What I was driving at is the only relationship that you are describing is basically you're taking the sum total of derecognized assets and dividing it by the sum total of capex in that year.

That is simply the way the relationship is.  That's the way you projected 2020, in the same fashion?

MS. CIPOLLA:  No, that's not correct.  We forecast paced on historical derecognition percentages.  This exhibit here in the table referred in this IR is for the purpose of the IR.

MR. GARNER:  Can I, Mr. Gluck, allow me one more question then?

If one were to accept what is insinuated by Board staff's question, that in fact you should make the relationship to in-service assets in the year, what is the materiality of that change if I looked at what you would be doing?  Would there be a material difference in the outcome?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  We haven't done that analysis.

MR. GARNER:  Is that difficult to do?  To be demonstrative of the difference in the two approaches, would that be difficult to demonstrate?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Because we don't forecast on a detailed ISA basis, it would be difficult to do that on a forecast basis, on a historical -- we could be able to do it on an actual ISA basis.

MR. GARNER:  You could do it on an actual basis?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, for historicals.

MR. GARNER:  Would that then -- I don't want you to do work that wouldn't be of any value.  Would that then give me looking at it in a sense of, in the past at least, if you used one methodology vis-a-vis the other, how different the results would be?  Would I get that from looking at the results of your --


MS. CIPOLLA:  Unfortunately, I couldn't speculate on that.

MR. GLUCK:  What I was hoping you could do as an undertaking is go back to 2013, expand table 1 on the basis that it is provided to 2013, so we could see whether this relationship over a longer sample holds true.  Because based on those three years, there is a clear relationship.

Then also we were looking for you to do the same table back to 2013 using actual derecognition and actual in-service additions, and show us the relationship between those numbers for the 2013-2017 period.

MS. CIPOLLA:  Just to make one clarification.  Derecognition began upon the adoption of IFRS, which came into effect in 2015.  So we would only be able to provide 2015 and 2016 and 2017.

So just to get clarity, could I just get clarity as to the specific undertaking, then?

MR. GLUCK:  Sure.  So we will drop off the 2013 and '14 part of the request, and just restate this table using in-service additions as line 2, and then calculating the percentage on that basis.

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JTC1.15.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.15:  WITH REFERENCE TO 4B-STAFF-141 PART B, TO RESTATE THE TABLE DROPPING OFF 2013 AND 2014, USING IN-SERVICE ADDITIONS AS LINE 2, AND THEN CALCULATING THE PERCENTAGE ON THAT BASIS


MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  With respect to 8-Staff-147, we're just trying to understand what happens if Toronto Hydro's proposal with respect to the service call customer owned service charge is approved.

Is the plan to remove the specific service charge from the tariff related to the specific service charges, and include a reference to the demand billable charge for this service as part of Toronto Hydro's conditions of service?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Mr. Gluck, your question would be better served on panel 2.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay, last question.  This is with respect to both 9-Staff-155 and 9-Staff-156.

In part A to both of those interrogatories, staff asked why the derecognition variance account and the externally initiated capital variance account need to continue, given that the CRRVA seems to capture the same amounts.

Toronto Hydro, in its response, noted that the accounts serve different purposes.  And while it is clear that they do serve different purposes, the CRRVA captures the same variances.

So we're trying to understand why you need three accounts to do what one account can do.

MS. COBAN:  Mr. Gluck, I think this IR has been mapped to panel 3 in the list that we circulated last week.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Those are my questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Gluck.  Mr. Rubenstein.
Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.  Can I first ask you to turn to 1B-CCC-12.  And essentially here you were asked to explain the term "useful life" in the various pie charts that show up in your evidence about how many assets are beyond useful life.

My understanding is you use mean useful life for that determination.  That is what this response is providing.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  For the purpose of the pie chart, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you use mean useful life for the purposes of depreciation rates?

MS. CIPOLLA:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What do you use for depreciation rates?  Is it typically used for life or -- for the useful lives for depreciation purposes, what do you use?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  For this you can refer to our pre-filed evidence, Exhibit 4B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 3, table 1 and 2.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I am looking at the table.  You're pointing me to the table?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you were asked in a Staff interrogatory -- I mean, Mr. Gluck took you -- asked you how your depreciation rates may differ from what is in the Kinectrics report.  And I am just trying to understand, in the Kinectrics report it is a calculation of useful lives, and I want to understand if that is the same calculation as what you are using for the purposes of the useful life calculation in the pie charts.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  We used the Kinectrics report, as you referred to, but we used -- effectively, the purpose of using the report is based on the useful lives of the specific assets.

And so we use for the specific asset category and specific assets the useful life based on that report that most represents those assets.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So is that the typical useful life?

MS. CIPOLLA:  It would depend on the asset.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, maybe by way of undertaking you could provide me a chart that essentially shows what is the difference between the depreciation useful life you were providing and what is the mean useful life for the purposes of the pie charts.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Rubenstein, what you are asking us to do is compare two different -- two different items.

So there is the Kinectrics report, a range of useful life, and then for the purposes of the pie chart we've selected just the mean, the mean number.  You just want to compare those two, if I am understanding correctly?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, for depreciation purposes you're picking a number within that range, as you are depreciation.  For the purposes of calculating depreciation, you're picking a number.  It's not a range.  Maybe within that range.

I am trying to understand what is the basis for that number.  Is it the typical useful life?  Is it the mean useful life between that range?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Mr. Rubenstein, it's already been provided in pre-filed evidence 2B, tab 1, Schedule 1, Appendix C.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If that could be brought up.

MR. LENARTOWICZ:  Sorry, what is the reference again?

MS. CIPOLLA:  It is 4B (sic), tab 1, Schedule 1, Appendix C.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why would you not use -- why for the pie chart would it be different than the depreciation asset lives?  In theory they're supposed to roughly calculate the same thing.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The pie chart is developed as a strategic indicator, specific for asset management purposes, while depreciation rates are developed for financial purposes.

With respect to the pie chart specifically, the Kinectrics study provided us a range of useful lives.  And that entire range is a reasonable range.

For the purposes of the pie chart, we could calculate the pie chart based on a minimum life, a typical life, a mean life, a max life.  And for the purpose of doing that we selected the mean.

There is an interrogatory -- Mr. Hann asked the interrogatory that asked us to do that on the basis of a max life.  So really that is just one indicator.  So the fact that we've selected a mean is the number we selected for the purposes of that specific indicator.  It is in no way related to financial treatment of assets.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to 2B-AMPCO-18.  Maybe the responses here will help clarify.

I wanted to help better understand the linkage between the asset condition assessment and the, what will ultimately be the work plan that you undertake.

Do I read what you're saying here in the last lines of A and B, where you say "Toronto Hydro considers assets in HI4 for intervention", and then in Part B, "assets in HI5 condition typically require intervention", that assets that have that condition are to be replaced in the plan?  Help me draw the linkages between the asset condition and ultimately what actual assets are replaced.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, if I can just get -- it is AMPCO?  I know it is on the screen.  AMPCO 18?  And your question with respect to AMPCO 18 is...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, let me start this.  Can you help me draw the linkage between the asset condition assessment information where you have all of your assets, H1 through H5, and ultimately the work that gets -- the work that ends up being done -- maybe you can just draw me that linkage, is the sort of first question here.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. NARISETTY:  So if I can draw your attention to Exhibit 2B, section D, appendix C, page 2.  So under part B, ACA and asset management, here we outline how Toronto Hydro uses the asset condition assessment results in performing or making decisions as part of our distribution system plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  Can you explain -- obviously, I am asking for you to provide some explanation.  Can you help me understand?  I took you to AMPCO 18 because there it is essentially, as I read it, H4 and H5 in your view require intervention.  Do I have that correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  That is as per the definition of the health index band, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so would I expect then, if something is in H5, you would replace it within a certain amount of time, those assets, and H4 over a longer period of time?  Is the goal to replace all of the H5 assets?  Can you help me?  I am just trying to draw the linkage between asset condition and the actual work you plan to do.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Rubenstein, ACA is another one of our strategic indicators, so it provides us insights into pools of assets that we should be considering for intervention replacement, because they provide or they result to an unacceptably high failure risks.

In the sense that you are referring to it, you're referring to more of a tactical tool.

We at Toronto Hydro do not say this particular asset is in HI4, therefore this particular asset should be replaced.  It is simply a consideration that our planners bring into their decision-making when scoping out particular projects.

Generally speaking, assets in HI4 and HI5 are of considerable concern to the utility, and we certainly would be looking to, at a minimum, maintain levels where they're at currently, if not improve them.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So for HI5, if say we had an asset class and 3 percent were in HI5, does that -- how does that feed into the number of assets when you are doing it at a planning level for five years, where you haven't chosen which specific asset you are actually going to end up replacing?  How does it feed into those numbers?

Is it, well, we need to replace all of the HI5 assets within three to five years?  Or is there no link at all?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  If I may direct you, Mr. Rubenstein, to 2B-Staff-67, specifically part E on page 4 of that interrogatory response, the party asks:
"Please explain how asset condition assessment, predictive failure modeling, historic reliability analysis and economic risk base analysis interact in terms of determining how to direct capital expenditures."

Toronto Hydro's particular response to that speaks to the interaction of those four tools that Toronto Hydro has available to it.

If I was to summarize the particular response, ACA would be a strategic indicator.  It would be something that when we are developing plans for particular programs, we would certainly consider.  If we have a set number of assets that are in HI4 or HI5, we would certainly consider replacing those over a certain time horizon.

But we would also balance that with indicators from potentially some of the other tools that we have available to us.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Understanding that many factors, and you mentioned balancing.  When you say that you should intervene within a period of time, is there a set amount of time that you say assets that are in HI5 will need to be replaced versus assets in H4, et cetera?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Rubenstein, if I can direct you to 2B-AMPCO-44, part A specifically, which asks what the recommended timelines are for intervention in relation to HI bands.

And the asset condition assessment methodology does not have a numerically defined recommended timeline.  It would be a case-by-case determination.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to 2B-AMPCO-42?  So you were asked to provide the most recent ACA results using the previous methodology, and it says 2016 ACA results.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, we have that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that -- does that mean that the ACA was conducted in 2016?  Or is the data based on information available in 2016?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. NARISETTY:  So subject to check, these results were put together in 2016, using early 2016 data.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the new methodology, I believe, is to the end of 2017 data, December 31st, 2017?

MS. NARISETTY:  So the ACA methodology based on the CNEM methodology was as of end of 2017 data.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I wanted to just get -- one of the things between the CNEM methodology and the old methodology is that you have more information from more asset classes, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  When you say more information from more asset classes, can you expand on that?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  More asset classes.  I am looking at -- if you want to just flip, I will be flipping for a few questions.  42 has the 2016 information, and AMPCO 48 has the information with respect to the new methodology.

Just to give you an example, underground vaults, ATS vaults, CLD vaults, CRD vaults, submersible switch vaults, URD vaults, SF6 insulated pad-mount switches, SF6 insulated submersible switches, air-insulated submersible switches.  Those are contained in the new methodology.  They were not part of the old methodology.

MS. NARISETTY:  Sorry, that was a long list of asset classes.  Do you mind repeating those?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is not about the specific ones.  Just generally -- I thought this was sort of self-evident, but you have more asset classes.  You have asset condition information under the new methodology.  Am I not correct about that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Rubenstein, I apologize, because I don't have a comparison directly in front of me. We can do that specific comparison if it is something that would be valuable.  However, my recollection is there are a couple of instances where we've got some additional ones, but there is also instances where there are certain asset classes that do not exist currently in the new models that we have developed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But did in the previous model?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So maybe so there is no confusion at a later date, if you could provide a, I guess by way of -- a comparison between the two methodology and the asset classes.  And if they're grouped in one but not in the other, so we can -- if we were comparing line-by-line with the same titles we understand which corresponds to what.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JTC1.16.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.16:  TO PROVIDE A COMPARISON BETWEEN THE TWO METHODOLOGIES AND THE ASSET CLASSES.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, with respect to the new methodology, what I understand is common between the methodologies is obviously it takes in condition information from testing.  That's common between the methodologies.  Obviously it is a larger part of the first one, but it is still a part of the second one, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you utilizing new testing -- is there -- is there new testing approaches that you have undertaken with your early new testing approaches?  New ways of testing that were not part of the old methodology?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Toronto Hydro is considering all of the observations that it would typically receive through its planned inspections, through its planned maintenance programs.  There have been some changes in our inspection forums since the last filing.

What I don't have readily available is the specific changes in how those are being considered within the model itself.  I don't have that level of detail with me today.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is it generally the same?  I recognize there's probably some improvements over time.  But is it materially the same sort of information?  I understand there will be small improvements as time goes on, but can we say that they're generally the same?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We can say they're generally the same from the point that they're both utilizing underlying inspection observations and maintenance observations.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand what the use of that information changes in the model.  But the inputs are roughly the same, generally the same?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Well, the two methodologies are different, in terms of how they arrive at the result that they arrive in.  So the weights, the considerations, those are all very, very different and not comparable.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Be the condition inputs are generally similar?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I would say, yes, given that they're both coming from the same inspection forums that Toronto Hydro has.

MS. GRICE:  Can I just ask one follow-up question to that?  Just with respect to say something like wood poles, are you doing any more in-depth testing now on wood poles than you were doing previously?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  No, with respect to wood poles.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when I am looking and comparing AMPCO 42 and AMPCO 48, so this is just the table of the two asset condition assessments, and if we start at 48 and I go down and I look at network vaults.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So on 48 specifically you're looking at network vaults, so on page 3, about eighth from the bottom.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  I see 545 network vaults is the total -- is the asset population.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we look at pad-mount transformers --


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- I see 6,617, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if I go to AMPCO 42, so this is the information in 2016, and I look at pad-mount transformers, I have 7,496.  Do you see that?  And network vaults, 10,055 (sic)?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you explain the very significant change in those asset numbers over the last few years?  What would actually be one or two years based on the change of the -- between the -- whenever the 2016 asset condition assessment information was based on and the end of 2017 asset information, the new methodology?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  With respect to -- with respect to network vaults, Toronto Hydro has network equipment within roughly 1,100 network vaults across the City of Toronto, which corresponds to the number that you see in the 2016 ACA results of 1,055.

When turning over to AMPCO 48 and network vaults you see a number of 545.  Of those roughly 1,100, Toronto Hydro only owns the actual vault, the actual civil infrastructure, for 545.  The remaining vaults are owned by a different property owner.  Could be a building owner, a condominium.  The new methodology that we have here only considers the 545 network vaults that are owned by Toronto Hydro.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So it is not -- we're not looking at the exact -- we're not looking at the same things?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, when you try and compare one specific methodology and approach to the other, there is nuances and details of this nature that begin to come out that make it challenging to compare them one to one or apples to apples.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So in the previous undertaking where you were going to do that comparison, it would be helpful if you could point those out where they're material, or they're not comparable.  If you can ensure in the previous undertaking you provided --


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, I --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- if you can make sure you are providing --


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  -- undertaking --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- that information so we recognize that they're not comparable.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I guess where I am struggling
is --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Or if they are comparable, then obviously --


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yeah.  I think -- really, to do that you would almost need to peel back one model and put it on the same basis as the other, which I don't think is possible.  So it would be very difficult for us to point out all of the specific details and all of the changes between -- I think that is where I'm struggling to --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I'll just give you a sense of what I am trying to understand.  You can maybe best help me with -- I want to be able to look at the results, recognizing they're different methodologies, but compare the asset condition and assessment for wood poles from the 2016 to wood poles from the 2017, the new methodology.  Recognizing they're different methodologies, but I want to understand how it shifts, what assets need to be -- you know, are in which class.

My point is if it gets to a point where actually these may have the same title, network vaults, but they're not actually looking at the same thing.  One is looking at a much larger population of assets, then I would like to know that.

MR. KEIZER:  Just so I understand.  In the previous undertaking, we talked about the various asset classes and I think the information that was stated was that in some cases, they exist.  In some cases, they have taken it away.  There have been some added -- whatever else.

So you asked us to line up on the basis of what the asset class is and the differences and the same.  I think that's what the earlier undertaking was about.

Now you are saying you want to know what about the number that are included in the assets or ...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I just want to make sure that when you are lining them up, they may have the same title, they may -- but as I understood from your response is in the 2016 for network vaults, in the 2016 it included all network vaults, but the newer one actually is a small subset.  It is about half of it and it is the ones that Toronto Hydro owns.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that's the specific.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  While they may say network vault, they're actually not the same.

MR. KEIZER:  I see, measured on the same basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  We want to make sure we understand that.

MR. KEIZER:  The fact that you may not be able to, you know, reach the same -- we may not be able to compare them in the same way.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If there is a material difference.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I see, okay.  If I may just confirm here.

So you would like to know -- one, you would like us to line them up, map them.  Two, you would like to know whether, you know, a wood pole here is the same definition exactly as a wood pole here.  And that is the extent of what you are asking for?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  And if it's not -- if it is materially different, I would like you to explain why.  I mean, if it is materially different, point it out.

If it is some marginal difference between the categories, it doesn't matter.  If there is a material difference -- this seems there would be potentially a material difference, so it is half the assets.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So in replying to this, if I were to simply state, you know, a network vault here, this is only the subset of network vaults that Toronto Hydro owns, that is sufficient for what you are looking for?  I want to make sure what I provide to you is responsive to the question you are asking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That sounds -- I will think about what you said and we can have an off line discussion.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTIEN:  All right.  Can I ask you to -- one second here.

MR. BRETT:  I have a short question here.  If I may go back to the subject you were discussing prior to the last subject, you were discussing the difference between useful life of an asset, as stated in asset studies meaning useful life of an asset, a range, the range of useful life of an asset on the one hand, and depreciation for financial purposes on the other hand.

My question is:  Why would there be a difference between the mean life of an asset and the depreciation adopted for that particular category of assets for financial purposes, financial statement purposes?

What I would like to understand is what the rationale is, in the sense that I would have thought that one of the -- that when you are setting depreciation rates one, of the things you would be looking at, if not the most important thing, is what's the expected life of this asset to allow you to determine over what period of time should we be depreciating it?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Brett, what we were speaking about before in the Kinectrics study, the Kinectrics study provided a range of useful lives, of expected lives and in that entire range, it is considered the point in time where assets will begin to fail origin to come off of the system.

I think what we spoke about before was that for the purposes of the pie chart, which is a strategic indicator, we have simply selected to calculate that on the basis of a mean life, which is an analysis that is being done for the purposes of a strategic indicator.

For the purposes of financial treatment, that is a very different -- sort of a different need.  So those two numbers will not necessarily match up.

MR. BRETT:  I understand what you are saying.  I understand that they may be done for different needs.  But I am interested in knowing why they would differ, notwithstanding that.

In other words, let me give you a for instance.  Is it the case -- is it the case when you choose a depreciation rate for an asset for financial statement purposes, that you are choosing that because you're directed to choose that by say a Board decision that set depreciation rates for assets of different types?  Or by very firm accounting principles that establish depreciation rates for assets of different sorts?  Or some other constraint on you?

Or do you have total discretion or near total discretion on what depreciation rate you choose for assets of particular types?

Perhaps penultimately, generally speaking, how do those two types -- how do those two things relate to the depreciation rates which you choose for assets of different types?  Are they typically longer or shorter than what you are calling a strategic choice of an asset life for purposes of your pie chart and your -- basically, for purposes of your capital budgeting.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  If I may, Mr. Brett, to answer your question from an accounting point of view, we look at the useful life for the financial statements.

And so the basis of that is based on a useful life that is appropriate to the specific assets.  And so we received the Kinectrics study specific to Toronto Hydro's assets, and we are allowed within the Board to use within that study within the range.

So we have selected useful lives within that range, based on the particular assets and their condition for Toronto Hydro.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, I think I understand that.  But I guess my question is when you are choosing the depreciation rates for use in your financial statements, what test do you use?  How do you choose those rates, based on what?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  It is based on the reasonable life of the asset from a financial point of view.

MR. BRETT:  Based on the reasonable life --


MS. CIPOLLA:  -- of the assets.

MR. BRETT:  Is that more or less the same as the mean useful life of the asset for -- that category of asset for purposes of your asset condition study?  For your pie chart, generally?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Kinectrics has provided us with the range and both numbers, depreciation and the specific mean useful life that we have selected for the pie chart are within that change.

MR. BRETT:  Both numbers would fall within that range.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Can I ask you to turn to 2B-SEC-32?  We had asked you in this interrogatory about the customer interruptions cost study.

My review of the previous proceeding was the expectation that this study would be conducted in 2015.  Can you help me understand why this study has still not been completed?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, the fan behind us --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No problem.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The fan behind us is still fairly loud, and it is a little challenging.  If I could ask for the IR number again.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  2B-SEC-32.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  32.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In this interrogatory we had asked you about the status of the study.  My review of the previous rate case was the expectation of this project was either --was supposed to begin or be completed in 2015.  I don't recall exactly which one.

Can you help me explain why it was delayed?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Rubenstein, you are correct that within the 2015 to 2019 period Toronto Hydro did plan to undertake a CIC study.  I don't have the specific reference in front of me.  However, it is Toronto Hydro's intent to complete that study before the end of this year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  But my question is why was it delayed?  I had read -- or understood from the previous proceeding that the point of the study was going to help inform the next plan.  Obviously because of where we are right now it hasn't.  I want to understand why it was delayed.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The reason that we have not completed the CIC study sooner is simply a matter of available resources.  The particular survey is being undertaken by resources within our asset and program management function or within the engineering team.

Over the past three years, that particular team has been working diligently on other types of tools.  For example, one particular tool that we have in front of us and we just spoke about was improvements to our asset condition assessment methodology.

We also spent a considerable amount of time embracing the outcomes framework and implementing the outcomes framework within our planning environment, and the CIC study specifically was simply at that point in time determined to be one that, with limited resources, is one that we could defer into, into 2019.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to 2B-SEC-50.  Sorry, SEC 37.  My mistake.  And we asked you in this interrogatory to provide a step-by-step explanation of how you cost out the programs.

As I understand it, the first step there is sort of the high-level scope of work.  And as I read it, do I take it that it is essentially a desktop exercise based on a preliminary plan, you know, I need to replace ten poles, you know, a kilometre of conductor.  You have a cost for that at the high-level stage and you know how much labour would be needed for that amount of work?  And so you come up with a high-level cost estimate at that point?

Am I reading that generally correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  It would be what would typically be considered to be in the industry a sort of a planning-level scope of work associated with a planning high-level estimate.

In terms of whether it is simply a desktop exercise, the specific IR response at line 24 of the first page says that in some cases field visits will be conducted.

So I would say it is a little bit more than that, certainly.  However, that would be the general parameters of what would be included at this particular level.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And beginning at page 2 on line 4 it talks about how after the quantities of major assets are identified the planner uses Toronto Hydro's Enterprise Resource Planning system, i.e., SAP, to apply assembly units, i.e., labour, material, and tool dollars, to determine the overall costs of replacing each of the assets.  Do you see that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So do I take it then you have a price for a pole that you are using at this level?  You have a price for -- you have a unit cost for each of the assets?  Do I have that correct?  That is what you are pulling from the system?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, your question was specific to, do we have assembly units as is identified in the response there at line 5 of page 2?  Is that your question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So as I am reading this, what it says is at a high level you determine how many assets you need and you have a cost for those.  You build in essentially a cost estimate.  So if the work -- I may be totally incorrect about how this works, but the project is we need to replace ten poles, half a kilometre of conductor.

Using your Enterprise Resource System, you know each pole, you have a unit cost for the pole, unit cost for the conductor, and you can calculate how much work you would expect the labour that would be needed for each of those, for each pole, and that is the high-level estimate.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  Within our Enterprise Planning System, there are assembly units similar to what you have explained that can be used to then build out that high-level estimate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You say "can be".  Is that --


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  It is used, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So you then have -- and is it -- help me understand how this works in practice.  In my example of a very small project, do you input the amount of hours, the labour hours?  Or is it for each -- replacing each pole we know on average there will be X amount of labour hours and that is built into the cost to replace that pole?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Subject to check, the assembly unit includes both labour and material, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How do you derive those costs?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The way Toronto Hydro derived those is we undertook an exercise to estimate roughly what a particular assembly unit would cost and then we put that cost into our system.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you just give me a -- provide a little more detail about how -- what exactly went into that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  In coming up with a labour estimate for specific work, Toronto Hydro used the expertise of various resources within the organization, both from an engineering -- from the engineering areas and design as well as construction to develop the estimates for labour.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do you utilize -- is it based on internal?  So you have a mix of internal and external contractors doing work.  Is it based on a combination of those?  Is it based on internal?  Is it based on external contract work?  Those numbers --


(Conference call ended)

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The specific asset assembly units identified here are only for internally executed projects.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to provide the costs for each of the various assembly units, the major asset categories?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So I think what you are asking for is a list of all of the possible assembly units that Toronto Hydro has.  Is that what you are after?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can I just have a moment, please?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I am not sure if this is helpful, but one question that I have is, this specific interrogatory discusses how Toronto Hydro estimates projects specifically.

The particular plan that is before the Board currently is being done on a program basis, and the asset -- you know, assembly units that we have been discussing and the specific methodology for estimating projects is not one that we apply when deriving our program level longer term plans, such as the one that is here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Each program is made up of projects, ultimately will be projects?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  At the end of the day, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  So I would still like to see that information.

MR. KEIZER:  I think we'd have to look at it to see what exactly is there.  First of all, there may be some information that's confidential because it does have certain costs in there.  And that may affect, you know, if we ever did go to external contractors or otherwise, so that is problematic.

Also, I am not sure that it is in a format that necessarily is all that useful.  So, you know, maybe what we can do is take that away, Mr. Rubenstein, and just consider what is there and advise you as to what is there, what may be suitable for your purpose.  If it is thousands of line of code, I don't know how much that is going to be to your advantage.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  That is why I did say for the major assets, if it's -- not the cost of every single widget you know, but I am satisfied with that approach.

MR. KEIZER:  Why don't we do that?  We will come back to you and then we can clarify what it is that we can provide.  Or if you still do want it, depending on what it is.  Is that fair?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  I still think we should mark it.

MR. MILLAR:  Whatever it is, it is JTC1.17.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.17:  TO DESCRIBE THE METHODOLOGY FOR ESTIMATING COSTS FOR PROJECTS


MR. KEIZER:  It is an undertaking for further discussion.

MR. MILLAR:  I don't care.

[Laughter]

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you now to turn to 2B-SEC-50?  We had asked you to provide essentially for each year -- maybe it's best if we actually pull up 2B, section E4, page 2.

As I understand the plan amount here was -- correct me if I'm wrong, it was either the forecasted amount or the forecast minus 10 percent.  Do I have that correct from the last decision?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  No, that's not correct.  That plan amount refers to the application, the original application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We had asked you in interrogatory 2B-SEC-50 to replace the plan amount with actually the forecast you had internally for that given year, so 2015.  What was your internal plan in 2015?  2016, what is your internal plan was in 2016.

In your response, you declined to provide it on the basis, in your view, it was not probative.  I am going to ask you again once more to provide it.  And just to give you an explanation, we think it is very relevant to understand, on a given basis in any year within that plan, how you actually were able to meet your own internal budgeted amounts.

MR. KEIZER:  We are not here to evaluate our own internal budgeting, so we're going to continue to decline the request.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  Well, I mean the Board -- the Board, going forward on a forecast basis, wants to understand your ability to meet your own internal budgeted amount.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think that comes to the question of how the Board considers and interprets the plan going forward, as well as how it would interpret and consider the plan that previously occurred.

So our view as to the internal budgeting or workings isn't something that -- and over the 2015-'19 period isn't something that's being surveyed here.  So we are continuing to refuse the request.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to 2B-SEC-51? And there is an Excel spreadsheet that goes with this.

We had asked you to fill out a table essentially which provided the units of work you were going to do under the various programs from the las  case, and asked you to essentially tell us what you did.

And for a number of the categories you have provided, you have not broken it down by year.  I was wondering why you did not.  So for underground legacy infrastructure, each of the amount of work is not broken down by year.

Can you help me and explain why you couldn't do it by year?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Generally speaking, Mr. Rubenstein, the reason we did not provide -- and you will notice it was generally for programs of relatively low volumes, small volumes -- is because typically with some of these projects, when units start and when they complete, when they're put in-service tends to not be sort of discrete to a given year.

Toronto Hydro doesn't have the systems in place to very precisely say, to respond to questions of this type of nature.  At least certainly didn't have a system in place prior to implementation of our new SAP system.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  But for the box construction you only -- so let me ask you, for box construction you have only provided poles.  But --


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- will you agree it is not an immaterial amount of poles that you replaced?  You weren't able to break it down by year?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  With respect to box construction specifically, if I may refer you to the narrative on 2B-SEC-51, page 1, beginning at lines 23:

"Programs that replace units in a non-like-for-like manner are a challenge to populate given that Toronto Hydro's systems have historically not tracked the removal of assets in a manner that enables allocations to particular programs.  Programs such as box construction are examples of programs that are affected."

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Box construction is now being done -- and maybe I am confusing two things -- on a -- you are doing it on a per customer basis?  That is how you do the calculation?  Or am I mixing up issues here?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  It would be rear lot that we're doing on a per customer basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to 2B-SEC-59.  In this interrogatory we asked, using one specific program, the underground system renewal, Horseshoe program, to understand how you evaluated program alternatives, and you were asked in part C -- well, in part B you were asked to explain what type of analysis went into the development of each of the options and how the options were presented to the decision-maker, and then in part C we ask you to provide a copy of the analysis that was provided of the decision-maker, and you for part C point us back to the evidence.

Maybe you can help me understand, comes in your response to part B as well, when you are looking at the various options, what is actually ultimately presented to someone to make a decision?  Or is it essentially -- is there anything formal?  Is it a formal decision when you are looking at the alternatives?  Or is it a high-level analysis that is undertaken?  I am trying to understand sort of mechanically how this actually works.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So Mr. Rubenstein, the question itself asks for a copy of the analysis that was provided, and the response points to the option analysis that is contained in the evidence.  Ultimately that was the options analysis that was decided upon where a decision was made, and that is why it points to that specific piece of evidence.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I understand it is the analysis, but obviously they weren't given a copy of the evidence.  I am just trying to understand, was there an actual analysis that was undertaken that was provided -- that exists, that was provided to the -- whoever was making the decision that we're going to go with the option that was ultimately selected?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Perhaps the best way for me to provide some additional insight into the process would be to direct you to Exhibit 2B, section E2, probably beginning at page 5.

This describes the iterative planning process that Toronto Hydro undertook, and I am paraphrasing here a little bit to save us from having to read through this particular section.  This describes the iterative planning process that Toronto Hydro undertook.  Through that planning process there were scenarios that were considered.  There is also an interrogatory -- let me see if I can actually identify it from -- I believe it is Staff 73, which speaks about the iterations and the different plans that we considered.

There isn't a single document that I can point you to that says, here's the document that was given to a decision-maker and a decision was made.  Really, it was an iterative process that took the better parts of a year, and ultimately the final decision that was made was made on the basis of the options that are considered in -- that are contained in each one of the programs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But Staff 73 is -- it is not looking at options.  It was -- in various stages this was the entire program that we were doing.  I assume the options that we're discussing in the second interrogatory are way before that in terms of what you are going to do, because as I understand it there were various options of how you could deal with the issue.

You picked -- and I don't have it pulled up in front of me, but you picked one option, and I was just trying to understand, was the options analysis -- is that a formal internal document?  Or is it -- it may not be.  It may be just an analysis that was being done, but it was not formalized in any way.

I understand that now you provided information in the application, but I don't know, is essentially a similar analysis with the exact same information -- did it exist internally when you were going through the process?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I think there is no single document that I can point you to that says, here it is, other than what you see in the particular evidence.

It might be helpful if you wanted to look at the response to part B of SEC 59, 2B-SEC-59.  Part B, beginning at line 12 there, it speaks about the type of analysis that was conducted and how those options were generated and how they ultimately were derived.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But my -- part B reads to me that it was not as formalized as it may appear in the evidence.  And I may be wrong.  I am just trying to understand.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Sorry, can you just repeat that?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My review of part B makes it seem like the options analysis was not as formalized as one would -- had the impression from based on the pre-filed evidence.

Is my impression incorrect?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Certainly as the iterative process proceeded, as is described here -- you know, for example, early on the options focused on pacing.  That would be at line 17.  Subsequently options were expanded to include considerations beyond pacing.  That would be line 25.

So certainly the options were refined as our iterative process progressed.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Rubenstein, would this be a suitable spot for a break?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's take 20 minutes.
--- Recess taken at 3:18 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:38 p.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I think we will get going again.  We're going to go to about 5 o'clock today, just if you are wondering what the schedule is.  So back to you, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Can I ask you to turn to 2B-SEC-67?  You were asked to provide the internal business case created for the Copeland TS Phase 2 project and the response is there was no revised business case for Phase 2.  Do I understand that correctly?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The specific response refers back to Exhibit 2B, section 7.4.51, for summary of the business case.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Second sentence:
"Toronto Hydro does not have an additional internal business case for this project."

So I took that as there is no internal business -- is there an internal business case for Phase 2?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Beyond what is in the evidence, no, there is not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, let me -- what you are providing me in the evidence is essentially a discussion of the project and that is different to me than an internal business case, because obviously the evidence was created afterwards.

So when someone was approving the project for Phase 2, was there an internal business case?  Did someone in Toronto Hydro management, board -- I am not sure of the approval structure -- approved?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So the specific response speaks to the business case that was developed, which included Phase 1.  The business case elements that were considered internally are included in the evidence.  Beyond that, there is no additional or incremental business case.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, the evidence in this proceeding is maybe a summary of that business case.  But it is not the internal business case for Phase 2.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  There is no other business case.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So that was discussed earlier on with Board staff, the project has increased, I believe, from 44 to 84 million dollars.  We went through the reasons why and how that has changed since the last proceeding.

Do I understand that there was no internal business cases presented to just -- that someone had to sign off with respect to a 40 million dollar increase in cost?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So, Mr. Rubenstein, I am going to respond in two ways.  The first is, the summary of the business case -- and you've characterized what's in the evidence as a summary -- but the evidence itself contains all of the elements that a business case would.

It contains the need for Copeland Phase 2.  It contains analysis around options for Phase 2.  It contains costs associated with Phase 2 itself.  So all of those elements are contained there.

Now, with respect to Toronto Hydro's process itself, if I can draw your attention to Exhibit 2B, section A5, page 29, this is a summary of Toronto Hydro's internal asset management process.

I want to draw your attention to the first 2 boxes:  box 1, which is the investment planning and portfolio reporting process and box 2, which is the scope and project development process.

The need for Copeland Phase 2 and the elements that I have just described, the need, the options, the costs were all discussed at length during the portfolio plan portion of the first box, which is the investment planning and portfolio reporting process, and then subsequently were also discussed as Toronto Hydro moved into the scope and project development portion of the particular phase of Copeland Phase 2.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, maybe let me ask the question this way.  The project, as I understand it, the costs from the last proceeding have changed by about $40 million.  We discussed some of the reasons why earlier on today.  Do I have that -- it is about $40 million more.  Correct?

One of the big reasons is that you have moved to a different way of contracting that project.  That is a big portion of it.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We did have that discussion this morning, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I am just trying to understand.  It is a very large project and I would assume -- was a document prepared internally which says senior management, or board of directors, or someone in your company signed off on a project that was supposed to be about $44 million.  For these reasons, we think it is still a good idea at $84 million and it explains it.

Was there an actual document?  I understand that you documented why you think it is still just, the project is justified in the evidence.  But that seems to be after the fact.

What I want to understand is was there something internally that went through the company.  It may not be called a business case, but called some other internal nomenclature.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So, Mr. Rubenstein, if you're looking for a specific document that says "business case", with signatures, there is no such document.

However, our specific internal asset management process, at that portfolio reporting stage, certainly considered Copeland Phase 2, looked at alternatives to Copeland Phase 2.

And at that specific phase, that specific portfolio planning phase, there was considerable scrutiny at the senior management level in a number of dialogues that occurred, and Copeland Phase 2 was included as part of that particular process.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So for some programs there are business cases, internal business cases, that have been provided in the evidence in response to interrogatories that are not -- so, for example, the control operations reinforcement program -- I don't think that is your
panel -- as well as I believe there was one provided for the Phase 2 of the IT -- the ERP project.

When does one have an internal business case and when does it flow through the -- simply just part of the rest of the asset planning process?  When do you decide that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KEIZER:  I think they can only speak to -- I mean, correct me if I'm wrong -- but if -- the responsibility of this panel was with respect to the overall three areas related to general service -- sorry, system service access and system renewal and not with respect to the general plant.

So relative to the other business plants I am not sure that they're able or in a position to speak to it.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  That's correct, Mr. Keizer.  What I was going to do is I was going to focus in on the system access, system renewal, and system service categories, which is the focus of this particular panel.

Generally speaking, how we approach these is, for the programs that are before the Board, generally speaking there are a number of projects that make up those programs.

For programs such as overhead system renewal, there, quite frankly, will be dozens of projects that occur in a given year.  For programs such as station expansion, which is the program that Copeland Phase 2 falls under, there won't dozens, but there might be ten, you know, a dozen or so projects in any given year.

Toronto Hydro's governance process within the asset management process that I have directed your attention to here includes reviews, senior management scrutiny, and iterations around particular projects at that stage.

So for example, at the portfolio planning stage, you will see that that box on the left side there under "capital", the station expansion program would have been reviewed in its entirety.  Certainly Copeland Phase 2 was reviewed in its entirety as part of that particular plan, different options were reviewed, and the decision was made at that point in time to proceed with Copeland Phase 2.

Subsequent to that, as the project moves from, let's call it the portfolio planning stage through to scope development, project development, which is the next box, and ultimately to construction, there are a series of governance stages there in which we would review costs, make final determinations, and ultimately, you know, push the work to the next stage gate, for lack of a better term.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When you say it reached the point where it's been reviewed and there is a decision to go ahead with the project that has happened, what is someone looking at?  Like, literally -- the problem I have is the pre-filed evidence is, you're summarizing your process and this is what -- after the fact, because this is what our case -- essentially what you are asking for.

I am very literal.  What is practically in front of senior management when they're deciding:  We're going to go ahead.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So senior management would be reviewing all of the information that's been summarized in section E7.4.  So Exhibit 2B, section E7.4, that is the station expansion program, and specifically the segment associated with Copeland TS, Phase 2.

So it would be assessing the specific need for capacity relief in the downtown core.  It would be assessing our load forecasts, new connections that are occurring in the particular area.  It would be assessing obligations and risks associated with both of those.  It would be assessing options, which are summarized later on towards the end of E7.4.  It would be doing all of that under the outcomes framework that the utility has developed, and it would -- and I believe those outcomes are summarized specifically on page 1 of section E7.4, customer service, reliability, public policy, environment, financial.

So everything that is summarized or that you have referred to as a summary in section E7.4 would be all of the things that senior management would be reviewing before making a decision to proceed with a project such as --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What does it physically look like?  Is it a memorandum?  I'm not internally -- I don't work for Toronto Hydro and I am not the senior management.  But practically, what are they -- pieces of paper?  What are they given?  Is it a memorandum?  Was it in a binder?  I am just trying to understand what they're looking at.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Rubenstein, I am just trying to understand, when you are looking for the document, attempting to find some documents, which the witness has already clarified the process, clarified the nature of any documents that were available with respect to Copeland 2, I am not quite sure what more can be added at this point.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, there is two things.  The first thing, I am trying to understand actually how this practically works, because, you know, when you are reading the evidence and providing the responses it is very high-level.  We look at all of these sort of things.  Ultimately some -- but I don't actually understand mechanically what they're looking at.  So that is the first thing.

The second thing is it is a very large project.  It is a project of about $84 million.  That is $40 million more than previously.  So I have a specific interest in this project.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think he has answered your question with respect to Copeland Phase 2.  With respect to the nature of the process, he's described the process and what they actually have considered during the course of that process.  So I am not sure that there is more that he necessarily can add with respect to that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think he was -- or at least I thought he was preparing to answer, what is the format when we're talking about -- you don't have a business -- as I understand, there is no business case.  But it seems to me that, at least as I interpreted the answer, a lot of the things one would think of in a business case is actually, they are looking at it.  I am just trying to understand what they're looking at.

So is it a memorandum?  Is it...

MR. KEIZER:  Can I have a moment?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So, Mr. Rubenstein, what specifically management is looking at would depend on where in the process we're at.  For example, as part of the IPPR process, when I was talking about the specific portfolio plan, management would be looking at alternatives that the planner for station expansion in this particular case, which would have included Copeland Phase 2, would have been presenting.

When it comes later on when we get to the scope development process, there is a specific scope of work that is developed.  I believe in one of the IRs -- I can't locate it right now -- there was a request for -- to provide a sample of a scope of work.  So we would be actually looking at a scope of work document that's been developed.

So it really depends on where in the process we're at.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so -- and I just want to go to the end, where you said there would be -- at least as I understood when you were walking me through the chart, there's sort of a point in time where they say we're going to go ahead with the project now.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  At that stage, that is what I am interested in.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  At the very end, a scope of work would be released to a construction execution department to actually proceed and execute upon that work.  That would be the end state.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So they're approving the scope of work?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  At that stage, there would be an approval on the scope of work.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is it costed at that point?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  A high level preliminary estimate would be provided, similar to what we were discussing earlier this afternoon.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would it be the -- and then when we get to the $84 million that we're talking about in this proceeding, that is post that point in time?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  When you say post that point in time, what do you mean?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I thought the 84 million was a little bit more than the stage 1 high-level estimate.  As I take it, what you're saying is senior management or whoever is responsible signs off on it to go ahead, and it is at a scope of work point.  It then goes to the execution department.

At what point do we get to the 84 million forecast?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So right back up at the front of the process, where I discussed the IPPR or the investment planning and portfolio reporting process, and in there there is a portfolio report component.

Within the portfolio report for stations expansion, there would be an item there associated with Copeland Phase 2.

Right up front at that point in time, there would be reviews of that portfolio including Copeland Phase 2, and a decision about proceeding or not proceeding, how to pace it, what year to put it in.  That decision would occur right up front.

So that has occurred, which is why you're seeing it within the evidence that we have before you at this point in time.

As we move from that portfolio report stage and move into a later stage in the asset management process, which is the scope development and subsequently the project development stage, that is where the scope of work is developed and there you get that estimate, which is a little bit more refined than it would be up front.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So really the decision to go ahead with Phase 2 is at the IPPR stage?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  In this particular case, given that we're looking at a -- we developed this evidence 7 years in advance of -- maybe not 7 years in advance of Copeland Phase 2 specifically.  But 2024 is about 7 years after we started doing our planning.  The decision to include it was done up front at that stage, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there a change request or some other documentation?  As I understand from your governance processes, you may have a change request or a project variance analysis that is done.

Was anything done with Copeland that took us from Phase 2 at the $44 million in the last case to the $84 million now?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, Mr. Rubenstein, you are correct that our governance process does include a change request component.  The change request component kicks in after the scope of work has been developed.

Prior to that, what occurs is as part of the IPPR process, the portfolio including Copeland Phase 2 is reviewed on an annual basis at minimum.  And any changes are considered as part of that process up front.

Once a scope of work has been developed -- and in this particular case I would need to check exactly where we're at with Copeland Phase 2, because we haven't received the bids back for the RFP. So there will likely be further refinement of that specific cost.

Once that occurs, a scope of work will go out and after the scope of work goes out, from that point on, every change that occurs, whether it is as part of the project development refinement of the estimate, subsequently as part of the detailed design, potentially a refinement of the estimate, and even after that once a project goes into construction, our change request process captures all of those changes downstream.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when we were at the IPRR -- I have that acronym wrong, and that is the decision to go forward with Phase 2 based on some estimate at that time, what is the individual who is making that decision looking at?  When they're making the approval with respect to Copeland specifically, what are they looking at?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  They are looking at all of the elements of a business case that are summarized within the evidence itself.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Obviously they're not looking at the evidence.  They're looking at some document that is summarized in the evidence.  Is that a memorandum?  There is some internal document they're looking at with respect to Copeland Phase 2?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KEIZER:  Why don't we take an undertaking to clarify?  We seem to have gone around here a number of occasions, in order to be able to progress the afternoon take an undertaking with respect to what would have been looked at at the time decisions were made.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Well, I guess you know what the next question is.  I would like to see that document.

MR. KEIZER:  Whatever that is, or whatever -- to the extent we are able to disclose it, we will.  If we don't think it is otherwise probative, we'll ...

MR. MILLAR:  You will explain why.  Okay, thank you. JTC1.18.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.18:  TO PROVIDE THE DOCUMENT REFERRED TO DURING THE COPELAND PHASE 2 APPROVAL PROCESS

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Besides my questions on the vault issue, which I will go after Mr. Quinn, those are my questions, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Before we move to Mr. Quinn, I was advised on the break by Toronto Hydro that one of the questions from Mr. Gluck that got punted to panel 2 should, in fact, be addressed with this panel.

So I am going to move quickly back to Mr. Gluck, who will ask that question of this panel.  And then we will go to you, Mr. Quinn.
Continued Examination by Mr. Gluck:


MR. GLUCK:  This is related to 8-Staff-147.  And as I asked before, OEB staff is trying to understand what happens if Toronto Hydro's proposal with respect to the service call customer owned equipment service charge is approved.

It is Toronto Hydro's plan to remove the specific service charge from the tariff, and include a reference to the demand billable charge for the service as part of its conditions of service.

MR. TAKI:  I would like to refer you to Exhibit 8, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2, where Toronto Hydro does state that we're proposing to recover the costs associated with this service or these services, the service calls, through a demand billable charge structure.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  I understand that.  Is this an item that you are going to be adding to your conditions of service?  Are you going to say for customer-owned-equipment-related charges, we're going to be charging on a demand billable structure for this, and this is a new addition to your conditions of service after you get approval to remove it from your specific service charges as part of this proceeding?

MR. TAKI:  If the approval is provided for this change, then that change would be reflected in the conditions of service.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Gluck.  Mr. Quinn, you say you're around an hour I am hoping we can finish you today.  But if we have to go slightly past five, that is okay.  So do your best.
Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  And this may not assist -- first off, panel, I am Dwayne Quinn.  I am here on behalf of the Greater Toronto Apartment Association and I was very intrigued by the conversation Mr. Rubenstein was having.  I know it is going under undertaking.

But can I get confirmation from Toronto Hydro that simply the question at some point somebody has to approve the project to proceed.  It's gone from $48 to $84 million.  Somebody has to sign on the line that says "this project will proceed.  We've exhausted other alternatives.  This is still a good idea."  Will your response be able to demonstrate to us what was viewed to make that decision?

MR. KEIZER:  I think -- if I could have a moment?  It is my understanding the undertaking would cover any basis for the decision-making process.

MR. QUINN:  I caught part of that, Mr. Keizer.  Sorry.

MR. KEIZER:  The undertaking would cover the basis of the decision-making process.

MR. QUINN:  That's what Toronto Hydro is going to provide?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Okay.  Panel, I am going to start off at a fairly high level, and we will get into details as warranted.  When I am talking about vaults, if I use the word "vault" I am referring specifically to our concerns about building vaults, vaults that are inside, in our case and from our perspective apartment buildings, but I need to get a basis of understanding first that hopefully you can help me with.

So for vaults that are included inside buildings, are all vaults of a similar design from the similar vintage of time when they would have been put into these buildings?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Quinn, not all of the vaults are similar.  Some of the factors that play into the different types of vaults or the characteristics of the vaults are the time when they were installed and the standards at that time, as well as the type of vault and the type of equipment in the vault.

MR. QUINN:  That is helpful, thank you.  So I guess the follow-up question to that is, would there be Toronto Hydro-owned equipment inside the vault, inside of all vaults?

MR. TAKI:  Not all customer-owned vaults would contain Toronto Hydro equipment.  Some customers do own their own substations, which means they would own the civil structure as well as the electrical equipment inside.

MR. QUINN:  So in that case, there would be no Toronto Hydro equipment in that vault?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  There may or may not be equipment that is owned by Toronto Hydro in those cases.

MR. QUINN:  Are there some vaults that have no Toronto Hydro equipment?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Quinn, generally there would be Toronto Hydro equipment, because even if there is no equipment that we own and operate we will have a meter in the room as well.  But specifically to give you sort of a clear answer, I do not know.

MR. QUINN:  I'm sorry.  I thought one of us would know, and so far that's not me.  So you're saying that at the very least there is a meter.  So there would be no vaults that have no Toronto Hydro equipment?  Said in a positive way, all vaults have some Toronto Hydro equipment in the vault; is that accurate?

MR. TAKI:  What I said was generally there would be Toronto Hydro equipment in the meter.  What I'm saying -- and hopefully this will clarify -- is at this point I do not have -- I cannot say for sure that there are no vaults that have absolutely no Toronto Hydro equipment.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Let's try it this way.  If there was a Toronto Hydro vault that did not have Toronto Hydro equipment, why would Toronto Hydro hold the key to the vault?

MR. TAKI:  There is equipment that is owned by customers that Toronto Hydro has operational control over.

MR. QUINN:  So you are operating -- you are -- have control of operating the equipment that may be owned by somebody else in that vault?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So because you have control of that equipment, you're holding the key to ensure that you have personnel available if that equipment is operated?

MR. TAKI:  We would have a key so that we're able to access that equipment and operate it.

MR. QUINN:  So in the corollary, if somebody else was operating that equipment and Toronto Hydro wasn't there, what is the potential impact of a third party operating that equipment and making a mistake?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  Are you describing a case where a customer who owns their own equipment, let's say a customer owned substation, and that customer is operating that equipment?

MR. QUINN:  Sure.  We will go with that.

MR. TAKI:  So what is your specific question?

MR. QUINN:  What's the potential implication?  Why would Toronto Hydro need or want an inspector on-site?

MR. TAKI:  Toronto Hydro's position is not necessarily that we would need someone on-site when the customer is operating their own equipment.  But there are cases where they own customer-owned substations.

MR. QUINN:  But you have the only key to the vault?

MR. TAKI:  Not in the case of customer-owned substations.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then I will refine the subset.

I am talking about Toronto Hydro secured building vaults that require Toronto Hydro person in attendance to access.  So in that implication, if Toronto Hydro is on-site, what could be the negative ramification of a third party operating that equipment even if Toronto Hydro is on-site?

MR. TAKI:  So the case you are describing is a vault owned by the customer, equipment owned by Toronto Hydro, correct?

MR. QUINN:  Or, as you refined it before, equipment that could be owned by the customer, but there is -- and the customer is operating that equipment.

MR. TAKI:  Okay.

MR. QUINN:  So what are the negative ramifications of a mistake by somebody operating that equipment?

MR. TAKI:  So a customer operating their own equipment, some of the ramifications or the risks associated with that, I mean, reliability to the customer, reliability to the system, safety implications to the customer.

MR. QUINN:  And when you say "the system", you mean the system external to the building or the Toronto Hydro network that is outside the building?

MR. TAKI:  Both in the building as well as outside.

MR. QUINN:  Outside the building.  Thank you.  Okay.

Let's try to change gears here and maybe we can make a little more progress.  I was trying to understand how old the equipment is in these vaults.  And I asked in an IR 4A-GTAA-6 -- and you can turn that up for the moment, but I think we will have to go somewhere else.

So we asked the question about -- sorry, B, C, and
D -- about the age of the equipment, and those are the answers we got.  So if we want to follow that -- I'm sorry, maybe it might be helpful -- I am trying to speed this up, Mr. Millar, but I am probably going to lose some people if I don't.  Can we go back up to the questions please in B --so what is the range of age of the hydro infrastructure in the vaults, what is the average age of hydro infrastructure, what is the anticipated lifespan of the infrastructure, and we were referred then back to the references down below to -- starting off with 2B, section D2, figure 14.

So I was hoping you could help me with interpretation of what I was referred to.  Okay, thank you.

So this is figure 14 that I was referred to.  So my first question was: what is the range of age of hydro infrastructure in those vaults?  In reviewing figure 14, can you tell me what I am supposed -- where I am supposed to draw that answer from?

MR. TAKI:  In figure 14, there are five assets that are -- for which age has been provided, an age distribution.

And so in these vaults or the vaults in question, typically there would be primary cable, which is provided in blue.  There would be secondary cable, which is provided in green.  Switches, which is in purple, and also transformers, which is in light blue.  So that provides you with the age distribution of that population.

MR. QUINN:  Is that the population representative of what's in these vaults inside the buildings?

MR. TAKI:  This is the population of Toronto Hydro's assets that are in underground infrastructure, of which vaults would be a subset.

MR. QUINN:  So I am asking again.  For that subset of vaults inside buildings, would this be representative?

MR. TAKI:  This includes what would be in vaults, but as well --


MR. QUINN:  Again, that is still not my question.  Maybe I could back up.  Are you putting vaults inside of buildings -- for new buildings constructed today, are the vaults being housed in buildings?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, they are.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So from the age of your vaults across buildings, do you have a demographic of those specific vaults and their respective -- the relative ages of those vaults?

MR. TAKI:  We do have that information.

MR. QUINN:  Can it be provided to us?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Just to clarify, Mr. Quinn, you are asking for the approximately 1,590 apartments that house customer-owned vaults.  You would like -- for that subset, you would like a chart similar to what is on the screen right now?  Is that what you are asking for?

MR. QUINN:  I don't need a chart similar to the screen.  Just give me the age of the vaults.  To the extent that you have refurbished or upgraded the equipment in those vaults, that should be a matter of your records.

So you probably have two age categories:  original installation and those that have been refurbished.

So if you could just give the relative age of equipment in those vaults, that would help us with an idea of the demographic and how that relates to what you are showing here, which is assets, age distribution relative to all underground.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We can try and provide that.  I think there is going to be some nuances associated with specific equipment that might be housed there and the various types of equipment.  But we will try to give you an indication of the general age associated with these 1,590 vaults.

MR. KEIZER:  Can I just understand, Mr. Quinn, the nature of the reason why you need to understand the age of the vaults?

MR. QUINN:  My understanding, Mr. Keizer, which is growing, is that the vaults predominantly -- and what other answers have seemed to refer to -- is that many of these vaults are decades old.  Not years old, but decades old.

I am trying to get an idea of a representative cross-section to say is what is -- this chart, in my view, is not representative.  Toronto Hydro should have data that would demonstrate what is representative of these vaults and the age of the equipment that would be housed in those vaults.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, the reason why I am struggling is I know your issue is with respect to the inspection and inspection fees, and whatever else associated with the conditions of service.  So I am trying to understand what the data relative to the age of the assets has to do with that aspect of the issue.

MR. QUINN:  Our premise is older assets would have a greater propensity to need either additional maintenance, or potentially are at greater risk of failure.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I think an undertaking has been given, so it is JTC1.19.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.19:  WITH REFERENCE TO FIGURE 14 IN IR 4A-GTAA-6, TO PROVIDE ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS THE RELATIVE AGE OF THE EQUIPMENT IN THE 1590 APARTMENTS IN CUSTOMER-OWNED VAULTS; TO SHOW HOW THAT RELATES TO ASSETS AND AGE DISTRIBUTION RELATIVE TO ALL UNDERGROUND.


MR. MILLAR:  Continue.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  If we can just qualify that, we might require some additional time simply because the way our systems are configured, the specific -- these specific apartment buildings might not necessarily be assets we can easily query, so there might be required some mapping.

But we will, on a best-efforts basis, try to provide you an indication of the age of these particular vaults.

MR. QUINN:  This might be helpful because my friend from Schools was trying to get my attention, but I was trying to concentrate on your responses.

I don't need them just for apartment buildings.  To the extent that are building vaults and they're housed in schools or they're housed in office buildings downtown, I am looking at indoor vaults.  So if that is an easier category for you to work with, then I would be appeased by that and I think my friends would also have information that would be helpful to them.

MR. KEIZER:  I just want to check with the panel as to the nature or size of that undertaking.  Is it going to be -- is that distilling data that is otherwise available, or readily available?  Or is it a massive undertaking or not?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So my understanding -- and my friends just confirmed this for me, my understanding is that the way our data is set up, it is not set up in a way to be able to do this easily.

What I am offering is to go in and review our data, and see what type of indications we can provide, perhaps generalizing and broadening out in the way you described might be helpful to us.

But it certainly isn't something we think we can turnaround in 24 or 48 hours.  But we will, you know, on a best efforts basis, try to provide you an indication here.

MR. QUINN:  I respect that.  I would rather have an answer that takes a longer time to develop than a short answer that says we don't have anything.  Again, generalizing to other buildings classes, I am totally satisfied with.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you. So 4D then asks the question that extends to Mr. Keizer's concern.  What is the anticipated lifespan of the infrastructure?

I was referred, again, to a different evidentiary reference in 4A, tab 2, schedule 2, page 12, lines 5 to 10.  When you have it there, I will proceed.  Do you have that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, we have that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So I am reading in here network vaults, CRD and URD vaults and submersible vaults, is 60 years.  Is that representative of the average age of the building -- of equipment held in those buildings vaults?

The reason I ask the question is it says the roof of those structures can only last for 25 years.  I am looking at more -- I am concerned about the equipment.

If there is a 25-year life on those that are below grade external, is 60 years the average that is representative of infrastructure that is inside a building vault?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Perhaps the best way to approach this is what we can do for the subset of assets that we looked to identify for the previous undertaking, provide some indication of the lifespan of those particular assets.

MR. QUINN:  That would be great.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JTC1.20.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.20:  TO PROVIDE AN ESTIMATE OF THE LIFESPAN OF THE ASSETS REFERRED TO IN UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.19


MR. QUINN:  If I may ask you to turn up GTAA 6.  We're back to that same undertaking.  In E we said:
"With increasing age, what is the failure modality of the equipment?"


And I see, under number 1:

"Would it be Toronto Hydro's opinion elevated temperature in the room could be a warning sign of upcoming failure?"

And then I received an answer about age, corrosion, internal fault, but there are other external factors that could impact the heat in the vault.  So I was going through those failure modalities, and can I ask you, on each of those failing modalities, would it increase the heat?  So would age normally increase the heat in the vault, the age of the equipment?

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Quinn, I believe you are referring to the wrong IR response.  So your -- in part E your first question was with increasing age what is the failing modality of the equipment.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. TAKI:  Then your second question is about elevated temperature.  Our response to elevated temperature, which is 2, is at the -- is a different response.  I just want to make sure we are reading the right --


MR. QUINN:  Well, I am actually trying to put you back to the failure modes that are in 1, and would they lead to an increase in heat.  So I am merging the two, you are right.  But you provided failure modes in 1, and I am asking which ones would contribute to an increase in heat in the vault.  So would age generally increase the heat in the vault?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Quinn, I don't think it would be fair to try to make a direct correlation between heat and any one of these specific factors.

MR. QUINN:  So oil leakage wouldn't -- you wouldn't expect oil leakage would increase the heat in the vault?

MR. TAKI:  There are other conditions that need to be also considered along with the oil leakage.

So my point is you can't just say just because an oil leak happens you will definitely have a heat issue.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So what other conditions would be needed with an oil leak?

MR. TAKI:  The loading of the transformer.  How much oil would leak.  The ambient temperature.  And perhaps some other conditions as well.

MR. QUINN:  Well -- so as the equipment loses more oil, that would be correlated with an increase in temperature of the equipment?  Would that be correct?

MR. TAKI:  Again, I would say it would not be fair to make the direct correlation without considering other factors.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  We'll try it this way then.  Would a heat detector help in providing some level of early warning of potential of a more serious failure?

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Quinn, in part 3 of the question we have answered that.  So heat detectors may assist in productively identifying an issue so as to prevent greater damage to both the electrical equipment and the surrounding vault and building.

MR. QUINN:  So is that why it was added to the fire code then, the need for a heat detector in each of the vaults?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know if the witness can address reasons or rationales relating to the fire code.

MR. QUINN:  What is their understanding of the purpose of the heat detector?  That is what we're trying to get at, Mr. Keizer, is if it isn't an early sentry then what is it there for?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think he already answered it, did he not, in Roman numeral III to your question?

MR. QUINN:  Well, it was not directly answered, but I will move on, just in the interests of time.

So we did ask in GTAA 5, I think -- I will just double-check in my own reference here -- yes, so down below, please.  We asked about the purpose and we asked about the typical response, which was provided, but we asked about a graduated level of response.

Is there a graduated level of response, or is it just -- is the heat sensor just an on-off?

MR. TAKI:  Can you clarify what you mean by "graduated level of response"?

MR. QUINN:  If somebody's -- I will just try to keep it simple.  If somebody recognizes impending danger but it hasn't developed to a catastrophic circumstances, they tend to respond and try to mitigate whatever condition's going on.  That is a graduated level response, versus calling 911 and sending all available emergency response resources.

So in the case of a heat sensor, is there recognition of a growing amount of heat in the vault?  Or is it just one simple trigger at some level the alarm goes off and people respond?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Quinn, the requirements for heat detectors as well as the specifications associated with those heat detectors and their purpose and how they're expected to work is all prescribed by fire regulations, and not by Toronto Hydro.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So when Toronto Hydro does respond, you inspect the condition of the vault when you go in or the condition of the equipment in the vault, I take it?  So in other words, you haven't had a catastrophic failure.  There is no fire.  Does Toronto Hydro fill out a report about their response and what they found?

MR. TAKI:  Your question is, if someone -- okay.  Perhaps just to clarify, you're saying if a customer -- if a smoke detector goes off the customer calls Toronto Hydro, who responds --


MR. QUINN:  Sorry, I want to specifically go to heat detector.

MR. TAKI:  Heat detector.  And Toronto Hydro responds.  Do we fill out a report?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. TAKI:  Yes, we would.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Can you provide some background.  Like, in the last two years, because I understand there is some limitations on your data, in the last two years what was found as a result of your investigation and what was deemed to be the source of the increase in heat?

MR. TAKI:  This is specifically for calls that were associated with heat detectors?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Are you talking about all incidents?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So Mr. Quinn, just to clarify.  Part C there states that in 2017 Toronto Hydro received 174 such calls, in 2018 Toronto Hydro received 111 calls.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  So you would categorize them as, it was a result of ambient heat.  It was a result of X, Y, Z, whatever it is.  You must categorize them in your database, otherwise your response and inspection don't actually assist you with understanding what equipment may or may not need to be replaced in the near future or what the customer may have to do to resolve an issue.

MR. KEIZER:  So for what purpose, though, for this exercise here before the Board?

MR. QUINN:  Because what determines -- or at least, I would expect Toronto Hydro would want to demonstrate is, as they're tracking these calls, they're learning about the failure modalities in a way that results in a reduction in risk for customers and for their system.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess I question the whole materiality of this in terms of going through 174 different reports or calls to determine what was a particular aspect about what was smoking or heating and what wasn't heating, in terms of the overall relevance to this process, and I am struggling with that.

MR. QUINN:  Your presumption is that you would have to go through 174 different reports.  To the extent that Hydro is keeping records, they, I would presume, are in a database.  Can I start there?  Are your records kept in a database that you can query for the nature of the call?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So the specific reports that are referenced here, panel 2, is Mr. Nahyaan, who is responsible for our control room and our emergency response program.

What Mr. Nahyaan can speak to is we receive somewhere between 22,000 and 27,000 events a year that Toronto Hydro responds to.  So of that subset, you know, what we're saying is there's between 100 and 200 of them that we have identified over the last two years as being related to the specific question that you are asking.

So we do track it.  I just don't know if those are captured within the database, whether the database is designed in a specific way that we can easily filter-out and query the database to provide only the information that you are looking for, and specifically what was identified during each and every one of these roughly 100 to 200.

MR. QUINN:  That is clearly not what I am asking for, each and every one.  I am asking for, what is Toronto Hydro learning?  You are tracking this data.  What are you learning about your own system and the systems in those buildings that I trust would actually go into your thinking around preventive maintenance and inspections?

So I am not asking for the 24,000.  I am asking for, on these calls, what has Toronto Hydro learned from them and what are the nature of the source of the problem that resulted in the call being dispatched?

If the answer is Toronto Hydro has learned nothing, then put that on the record.

MR. KEIZER:  I am still struggling with the relevance of your requests.  And so at this state, we are going to refuse to provide it.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Keizer, I am establishing the fact that you've got a number of calls that you are able to specify is 174.  Not 100 or 200, but 174.  Of those 174 calls, what has Toronto Hydro learned in analyzing the root cause of the heat detector going off in the first place?

I presume a prudent utility would analyze its data, and then again put that information into its risk management profile for aging infrastructure.

If that is not the case, then tell us it is not the case.  Materiality will get to a little bit later, Mr. Keizer, so if you want to take that under advisement, I would ask that you consider whether you want to respond to.  But I would ask for an undertaking number, so we at least get your response on the record as to why you don't think this is a material problem.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, materiality hasn't been demonstrated to me.  So there is no undertaking.  There is simply just a refusal.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  We will skip to that.  Actually I will stay on track here, Mr. Millar, I have to advise that I will go past 5 o'clock and --


MR. MILLAR:  Let's see where we are at five and we will decide.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So if we just turn up then, to shift gears for a moment, you've got an answer to a BOMA interrogatory in 2B-BOMA-63.  So I was just asking about what Toronto Hydro is learning and I read in the responses in A:
"Please explain how monitoring and control technology will prevent vault fires.  Please provide a detailed explanation."

And I see your response outlined below in A, which I don't think I need to read all of that into the record for the purposes of what we're doing here and from a time point of view.

I want to ask the question.  With this technology, would these systems indicate issues that could be arising in an indoor vault?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Quinn, you are asking whether the items identified in part I of A and part 2 of A, would they apply to building vaults?  Is that what you are asking?

MR. QUINN:  I didn't narrow it.  In all of A, so further details are provided in the network condition, monitoring and control technology; that is what starts off the response.

So with that technology, would that technology provide any kind of indication of issues that could be arising in an indoor vault?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  If the question is whether this type of data control, this monitoring and control equipment was in place in all building vaults, would it provide some indication?  Then the answer is yes, it would.

MR. QUINN:  That is a different question than I was asking.  But that is helpful, thank you.

From what you have in your current network condition monitoring and control, can you identify issues that may be occurring in your system, some of which could be arising in a building vault?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So, Mr. Quinn, this particular interrogatory is in the context of our network monitoring and control program.  Yes, some of the vaults that will be addressed as part of this particular program are
building -- are within buildings.

MR. QUINN:  That's great.  That is what I wanted to hear, thank you.  Have you correlated your heat detector alarms that I was just asking for previously?  Have you correlated those at all to areas that you are indicating that this control and -- sorry, network condition monitoring and control, have you  correlated the information you are pulling from your responses to alarms back to these areas to see if the root of your problem that you are seeing in your network monitoring is actually inside of one of the buildings?

You just told me that it is possible that it is coming from the buildings.  Would it not be an appropriate step to say where are we getting these heat detector signals, and where are we finding that there's issues when we're monitoring our system that it is in the same geographic area, or on the same part of your distribution system?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So I think the response to that is, generally speaking, the heat detector Toronto Hydro does not own within the building vault.  Those are owned by the property owner.

If those heat detectors were to go off and subsequently, as we've described, there is a call made to our control room to respond in the roughly 100 to 200 previously, if you're asking if we have looked at those 100 to 200 and determined whether those 100 to 200 overlap with this specific program, the answer to that is that up until this point, we haven't.

The reason we haven't is because, as I was speaking about earlier, this particular program is focussed on our secondary network system.  Roughly 50 to 60 percent of those are vaults that are in the boulevard, not in buildings.  And it is those particular vaults that we have prioritized for installation as part of this particular program.

The program is really in its infancy, so we haven't gotten to the point where we would do that type of correlation and very detailed analysis that you have asked about.

MR. QUINN:  Can you see the merits of such an expansion of your program in the future, of the network monitoring, to those that would capture areas that have a high level of building vaults?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So as we gain more experience with monitoring control, beginning with our network system, we will certainly be assessing the value of that program and assessing whether it is prudent to expand SCADA control and monitoring more broadly on the system.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So I think we established already that issues that emanate inside the building can cause damage or outages for other buildings in the vicinity.  Do I have that right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, may I just ask you to repeat that?

MR. QUINN:  Sure, sure.  I think we established earlier that issues that occur inside building vaults can cause damage or outage for other buildings in the vicinity.  Do I have that right?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, may I just ask you to repeat that?


MR. QUINN:  Sure, sure.  I thought we'd established earlier that issues that occur inside building vaults can cause damage or outage for other buildings in the vicinity.  Do I have that right?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So generally speaking, the way Toronto Hydro tries to build out its system is in a manner where the protections would isolate the specific building vault, such that damage and reliability implications do not propagate on to the system.


However, you know, given the nature of the system in many cases, the legacy infrastructure that is in there, there are situations where damage that occurs in a particular vault may spill on to the Toronto Hydro system, but generally speaking, we try to prevent that.


MR. QUINN:  Well, thank you.  I understand there is evolution in the system.  But what I heard you say is, yes, it is possible that issues inside of a vault could impact those outside the building.


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  It is possible.  I don't know if I would say it is probable, but possible.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, are you familiar with the explosion on Secord Ave. in 2008?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I am aware of the event, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Is your awareness expand -- or does your understanding allow you to answer, was that caused by a building vault issue that impacted others outside the building?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I am going to look at Mr. Keizer, because there are certain circumstances in that event which would prevent me from discussing that in this forum currently.


MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  So I think if I could just have a moment, Mr. Quinn.


I guess the question I have for you, Mr. Quinn, is when you were talking about Secord Avenue, is your question, I guess, a cursory one, or are you intending to go to the details and facts of Secord Avenue in particular?


MR. QUINN:  Not the detail and facts.  The -- well, let's use your word, Mr. Keizer -- materiality of such an incident.


MR. KEIZER:  For what purpose, really?


MR. QUINN:  To establish the fact that there are implications that are beyond the simple cost consequences of what may be transferred in and out of accounts here, if we're talking about safety.


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry.  So your issue here today is the safety of the vaults that Toronto Hydro has?  Is that what you are trying to put forward?


MR. QUINN:  How is the, in our view -- and it is part of what we have submitted, and this is not a secret -- that the mutual benefit of these inspections minimizes the risks of damage and interruptions for people inside buildings and outside buildings?  And our premise is -- and we share in that responsibility -- in this case there was a settlement which is a matter of public record in the class action suit.  And I am not expecting and I am not wanting to go through the details, but I am using this as an example of materiality.


MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, I just, I have a hard time understanding what the particular questions relating to the facts of that particular circumstance has to do with the issues relating to the vaults in this proceeding.


MR. QUINN:  That the initial problem emanated from a vault and impacted not only those in the building but beyond that.


MR. KEIZER:  I am not sure whether Toronto Hydro can or cannot speak to the origins of the cause, but, you know, I am assuming that that's kind of public knowledge, so I am not quite sure what you want Toronto Hydro to do with that information.


MR. QUINN:  Well, earlier, Mr. Keizer, you said you weren't sure what the materiality of us pursuing our concerns in this area.  And I am suggesting to you that if you narrow the scope of the issue to as small -- you might -- Toronto Hydro may make it, it doesn't look material, but if it is safety implications and there is broader impacts, that is certainly material.


Anyway, that is why I am bringing it up.  I am going to -- because I am going to have a chance to go tomorrow morning, I will change my questioning in this area and try to be specific enough that hopefully the witnesses can respond.


If we can move on to GTAA 7.  Thank you.  We had asked about the average amount of time for inspectors to attend individual vaults annually.  And in the answer in A we received that the median time, median duration to attend a vault is two hours.  My understanding of that translates to half the calls are at two hours or below and half the calls are at two hours or above.  Is that a correct translation?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. QUINN:  I am distinguishing between median and average.  For the engineers I thought that that would be a concept that would be easy to manage.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. TAKI:  Mr. Quinn, we got distracted trying to find the interrogatory.  Can you repeat your question, please?


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am reading your answer to say that the median duration is two hours.  So that would mean that 50 percent of the calls were two hours or less and 50 percent of the calls were two hours or more.


Is that a correct interpretation of your answer that two hours is the median?


MR. TAKI:  Response to part C I think answers your question.


MR. QUINN:  Well, that is why I can't reconcile it.  Because if you are answering A as the median, C is only the answer that could be mathematically correct if approximately 38 percent of your calls were exactly two hours.  So to cut to the chase, we asked about the range of hours and we got the hours that Toronto Hydro will respond to these calls.


Can you provide us the data, in terms of, that shows the range of duration of calls for these inspections so that we can calculate our own average?  Or you can provide us with the average, with a range, one or the other, we would request an undertaking for.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Quinn, hopefully this will be helpful.  What we can do is we can review the response and review part A and part C.


We understand the confusion that might have created with the wording "median" and the 31 percent on the bottom, and we can provide you a response as to some greater details around these two parts.


MR. QUINN:  That would be helpful.  But just before we close off the undertaking, what I would also ask is, what percentage of initial calls resulted in an additional visit to effect a repair of some aspect of the vault or the equipment?  And in the past did that subsequent trip produce a charge to the customer?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  That may be a little more challenging to provide.


MR. QUINN:  You would have work orders tied to an address, would you not?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We would, but what we wouldn't necessarily know is whether they related to the first instance.  It might just be two totally separate instances.


If you are asking for the customer went in, did some work realizing they needed some follow up work associated with the first work, that is where some of the challenges might come in.


I am not familiar with the specific data we have on hand with respect to this particular interrogatory response.


MR. QUINN:  Would you make best efforts on that, and provide us with what you can?


MR. KEIZER:  How about we look at it and advise as to whether we can?


MR. QUINN:  Well, I am asking for more than that.  In other words, if you do have ones that you know with certainty they're a follow-up visit, provide those.


If there is a category of unknown, then just differentiate those and say those are unknown.  So that percentage is unknown, but the percentage you know are follow-up visits, give us that percentage.


MR. KEIZER:  I guess one caveat is assuming we can even figure out whether there are follow-up visits or whether they're otherwise connected within the data that is included.


MR. QUINN:  Well, having some experience with utilities and the importance of gathering data for the purposes of understanding, this would certainly be an area that would be linked together because we're going to talk likely tomorrow now about the costs of these visits and what data you have, which demonstrate that you have collected the data.  You should be able to tell us what you see in your data which has instigated your change to your policy under the conditions of service.


So if you could take that as a request on a best-efforts basis, we would appreciate it.


MR. MILLAR:  I think the question is understood, Mr. Keizer, and you will respond however you see fit.  But I think his question is clear.  Is that fair, and we can move on?


MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  It is a fair question.


MR. MILLAR:  JTC1.21.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.21:  TO MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO ADVISE THE PERCENTAGE OF INITIAL CALLS RESULTED IN AN ADDITIONAL VISIT TO EFFECT A REPAIR OF SOME ASPECT OF THE VAULT OR THE EQUIPMENT, AND WHETHER A SUBSEQUENT TRIP PRODUCED A CHARGE TO THE CUSTOMER.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Quinn, how are you doing for time?


MR. QUINN:  I am challenged, Mr. Millar.  I could give you an estimate of approximately half an hour or 45 minutes.


MR. MILLAR:  More than 10 minutes?


MR. QUINN:  Absolutely.


MR. MILLAR:  Did you just finish an area, or is there something you can usefully do in the next 5 minutes?


MR. QUINN:  In this instance, it might be helpful because I have one more reference here.


MR. MILLAR:  Why don't you go ahead with that and then we will finish up after that.


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Under SEC 16, which I will give you the -- 1B-SEC-16.  Let me know when you have it up.


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  1B-SEC-16, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you.  You have it?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, I do.


MR. QUINN:  So in the middle -- and it is kind of small print, it's a little bit of an eye test.  But line 9, you have building vault inspection and the unit of measure is each.  And you've got 1,211 units at a unit cost of 330.


Am I reading that correctly as these would be the person in attendance for building vault inspections which we have been talking about for the last hour?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  You are looking at 1B-SEC-16, appendix A?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Line 9, vault inspection, network vault inspection, submersible vault inspection, building vault inspection?


MR. QUINN:  The last one, thank you.


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  No, these would not relate to the person in attendance.


MR. QUINN:  Can find what they would be, relative to what we have been discussing?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  They are entirely different.


MR. QUINN:  Are these Toronto Hydro's initiation of an inspection of their equipment in vaults -- in building vaults, sorry?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  These are Toronto Hydro's inspection costs in each of the three types of vaults that are listed there.


MR. QUINN:  I am asking specifically about building vault.  If it is not for the inspections we have just been discussing over this last hour, can you tell me what it does mean?


If that is a longer search process, we can start there tomorrow morning.


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I should be able to find it relatively quickly.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So those costs relate to the preventive and predictive underground, preventive and predictive maintenance program.  If I could direct you to Exhibit 4A, tab 2, schedule 2, we can begin on page 1, towards the bottom of page 1.


Line 18 speaks to below grade equipment maintenance, and inspections that occur there would be done on submersible vaults, network vaults, and building vaults, I believe.


There are some exceptions, however.  If you subsequently go into the particular -- actually into the following exhibit.  However, generally speaking, those costs that you see there are Toronto Hydro's unit costs associated with inspecting its equipment.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Okay.  Well, I will read that.  When you say the next exhibit, are you talking about 4B?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  No.  I am still talking about -- sorry, my apologies.  I am still talking about 4A.


MR. QUINN:  When you say the next exhibit, just give me the reference and I will look at that tonight and we will pick that up tomorrow.


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Subject to check, what I believe some of those might refer to is Exhibit 4A, tab 2, schedule 3, and the customer location maintenance that is done.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  I think this would be an appropriate spot, Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  We will continue tomorrow morning.  So that concludes our first lengthy day.  We will have another one tomorrow, I'm sure.


Can I ask folks who haven't gone yet on this panel to give Mr. Gluck any updates they have on time.  I know some areas have been covered now, so that would be helpful to us.


But otherwise, we will be ready to come back and ready to start promptly at 9:30 tomorrow morning.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:05 p.m.
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